FACULTY	EVALUATION	AND INSTR	UCTOR DE	VELOPMENT

Faculty Evaluation and Instructor Development: Perspectives and Experiences of
Tribal College & University (TCU) Faculty

Kayla Alkire-Stewart, B.S., M.A.

A Dissertation Research Project Presented to the Faculty of the School of Education of Maryville University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Education 2022

Maryville University School of Education Doctorate in Education: Higher Education Leadership

This research project is accepted by the Higher Education Leadership program faculty of the School of Education as satisfying the dissertation requirement for the Ed.D in Higher Education Leadership

Date:		
	Dr. Robin Grebing Dissertation Chair	
Date:		
	Dr. Candace N. Hall Dissertation Committee Member	
Date:		
	Dr. Jennifer Shumway	

Copyright page

Acknowledgements

From the first week of our first class, this program proved to be intense yet worthwhile, and I am grateful for the intentionality that went into its design. Devoting the precious resources of time and energy to completing the work required of this program was made a little easier because of its structure, content, and the dedication of those facilitating our engagement and progress. I am grateful to all of the faculty who contributed to our learning by designing assignments to expand our knowledge, increase our collaboration with peers, and push us to be more dialectical thinkers.

To my advisor, Dr. Robin Grebing, you represent everything great about this program, and I am indebted to your consistent support throughout the dissertation process. You expressed a consistent faith in me and my work that served as an inspiration to embrace the process and push through periods of ambivalence, frustration, and exhaustion. Your work with this program, our cohort, and me will continue to serve as a model for how I aspire to be.

Lastly, to those impacted most directly by this endeavor they did not choose, I thank my family. I thank my parents, relatives, and friends for checking in, and I thank my children for their patience, and in times when they lacked patience, for their eventual understanding. Most importantly, I thank my husband. Without his encouragement, I am not sure I would have enrolled in a doctorate program, and without his partnership, I am certain I would not have been able to complete it successfully. To everyone who has stood by me throughout this process, philamayaye.

Table of Contents

Section One: Introduction	1
Situating the Researcher	1
Introduction to TCUs and their Faculty	2
Context of the Problem	4
Relevance to Higher Education Leaders	4
Relevance to TCUs	6
Problem Statement	8
Research Questions	
Assumptions	10
TCU Faculty Perceptions of FE	10
Theoretical Frameworks	
Self-determination Theory	
An Indigenous Framework for Evaluation	
Definition of terms	
Literature Review.	
The Historical Context of Native American Education in the United States	
Boarding Schools: Implications for Current Native American Education in the	
United States	
The Creation and Continued Importance of Tribal Colleges and Universities.	
TCU Faculty	
Faculty Evaluation	
History and Purpose	
Faculty Evaluation: The Current Context	
The Use of Multiple Measures	
Student Evaluation of Teaching	
Peer Evaluation and Faculty Collaboration	
Self-evaluation	
Supervisor Observations	
Educator Portfolios	30
The Role of Culture and Context in the Creation of Effective FE	
FE: A Tool for Continuous Improvement.	
The Importance of Studying Faculty Perceptions of FE	
Conclusion	
Research Design	
Methods	
Participants	
Sampling Method	
Procedures	
Interviews	
Risks and Benefits.	43

Trustworthiness & Authenticity	43
Data Analysis	
Limitations of the Proposed Study	
Contribution to Practice/Scholarship	
Target Journal	
Rationale for Choice	
Author Submission Guidelines	
References	48-64
Appendix A	65
Appendix B	
Section II: Situating the Primary Researcher	
Introduction	
The Importance of TCUs	
TCU Faculty	70
Faculty Evaluation	
The Current Context	72
Multiple Measures	73
The Importance of Studying Faculty Perceptions	74
Self Determination Theory and an Indigenous Evaluation Framework	74
Purpose of the Study	75
Methodology	76
Population and Sample	77
Interviews	79
Analysis	79
Findings	80
Faculty Evaluation is Important	80
Discontinuity Exists between FE Policy and Practice	
Faculty Appreciate and Desire Qualitative Feedback	82
Faculty Prefer Ongoing Opportunities for Evaluation	
Faculty Input Should Inform FE Processes and Practices	85
Discussion	86
Perceptions of Faculty Evaluation	
Effective FE Practices	
Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	89
Conclusion	90
Deferences	01.07

List of Tables and Figures

Table 1. Pseudonyn	ms and Professiona	al Experience of Study	y Participants	78
Figure 1. Bevan's ((2014) Structure o	f Phenomenological I	nterviewing	38

Introduction

Situating the Researcher

It is not surprising that my view of higher education has been influenced by my own experiences as a college student, especially the experiences that filled my undergraduate years. As a young, single mother, my post-secondary experience was different than many of my peers' and fulfilling basic student expectations—such as being physically present (and on time) for class—required high levels of planning and coordination. Though the college environment I experienced was not one built for single mothers, the support I received from college personnel, specifically my instructors and advisor, was integral to the success I experienced. The trajectory of my life was so strongly positively impacted by my involvement with higher education, that I've chosen to work and study in that area up to the present and plan to continue to do so.

As an enrolled Tribal member with a passion for the power of education, I wanted to serve in a place where my personal and professional experience could be of most benefit, a desire that led me to my role as a TCU faculty member. Working within a TCU allowed me to quickly realize that TCUs fulfill a significant role for both their students and communities and that the challenges they face in helping meet the needs of those they serve—many of whom are "nontraditional" like I was—was even more encompassing than that of their mainstream counterparts.

Through my time spent working at two different TCUs, I have been able to see the integral space they fulfill. As institutions, they work with limited resources to advance both cultural and academic missions that benefit the communities in which they serve. Those that choose to work at TCUs, do so because they too believe in this mission and want to contribute in the best way they can. For TCU faculty, being effective means being knowledgeable about subject matter, skilled in instructional methods, and aware, accepting, and willing to integrate the historical context of where they perform their work; in other words, TCU faculty must not only have adept content knowledge, but be able to take a place-based approach in attempts to convey that knowledge. My chosen area of focus for this study is influenced by my appreciation of TCU processes and practices that reflect the culture of their place.

Introduction to TCUs and their Faculty

Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) thrive on their creation by and connection to their tribal communities. Unique in their missions to advance both academic and cultural goals, TCUs play a vital role in facilitating the success of those they serve (American Indian Higher Education Consortium [AIHEC], 2021). With a focus on place-based education informed by local tribal traditions and knowledge, TCUs are well-positioned to create learning environments that recognize, embrace, and sustain the history and identity of their students (Center for Community College Student Engagement [CCSSE], 2019). Though the importance of TCUs has been well demonstrated, they have been chronically underfunded since their inception (AIHEC, 2021); moreover, many TCUs are located on or near Indian reservations, areas often characterized by their rural location and high percentages of poverty (Dewees & Marks, 2017). Those conditions alone contribute to a number of obstacles faced by TCUs and their students, including the need to hitchhike to class or be physically present on campus

to have access to technology and the Internet (Shreve, 2020). Taken together, the lack of funding, remote location, and high poverty contribute to ongoing challenges for TCUs, including lower than average persistence, retention, and graduation rates (Postsecondary National Policy Institute [PNPI], 2020).

The traditional markers of academic success noted above—specifically persistence, retention, and graduation rates—have been well-researched in the field of higher education, but findings focused on Native American students and TCUs are sparse (Shotton et al., 2013; Willmott et al., 2016). In their book *Beyond the Asterisk:**Understanding Native Students in Higher Education, Shotton et al. (2013) not only illustrated the lack of data on Native students in higher education, but also explained the repercussions associated with that position. For example, disproportionately high attrition rates and low graduation rates are unlikely to improve without increasing the data on Native students and organizations. In fact, as part of a larger report analyzing enrollment and outcomes at minority-serving institutions (MSIs), Nelson (2017) expounded on what has come to be known as "data invisibility" among Native perspectives. Nelson (2017) argued a point similar to Shotton et al's. (2013), noting that "higher education practice, policy, and research" (p. 40) could better meet Native student needs and facilitate their educational success if it were informed by Native perspectives.

Just as there is limited data on TCUs, studies focused on those with whom TCU students most frequently interact—faculty—are even more scant. In fact, the first and last study focused on TCU faculty explicitly was conducted in 2003 (Voorhees, 2004). The results of the study showed TCU faculty were dedicated to positively impacting students

through their work, but that they would consider leaving their current TCU for a position outside of education (Voorhees, 2004). Given the results of the study, Voorhees (2004) concluded that in order to strengthen TCU faculty retention efforts, TCUs should focus on implementing professional development (PD) opportunities designed to meet the needs of faculty teaching at TCUs. Emphasizing the retention of TCU faculty is not surprising as faculty have been shown to play a key role in TCU student success (Pennamon, 2018). Because of the positive influence TCU faculty have been demonstrated to have on student success outcomes, investigating factors that affect TCU faculty performance and development is crucial. This study intends to create visibility among TCUs and their faculty by examining one area that has yet to be sufficiently addressed in the literature: How faculty working at TCUs have experienced the faculty evaluation (FE) process and perceive it to contribute to their professional development (PD).

Using a qualitative approach, this study aims to discover how TCU faculty perceive the FE process and its associated practices to contribute to their development as professionals. The findings from this study could benefit TCU faculty and leaders alike, prompting revisions to FE processes that could enable them to better support the continued professional growth among TCU faculty.

Context of the Problem

Relevance to Higher Education Leaders

FE is a common practice across institutions of higher education. The purpose of FE is often explained as a process carried out to determine how faculty are performing in

relation to their roles (Ngoh, 2018). Although this conceptualization captures the basic goal of evaluation, it misses a key component related to how the efficacy of evaluation can be maximized in the realm of teaching—that is when evaluation is designed as a formative process meant to facilitate faculty growth. In fact, faculty have been found to associate an improvement in teaching with a closely-connected FE and PD system (Navidinia, 2021). Leaders in higher education have begun to recognize the importance of linking FE with PD as well and have experienced positive results after modifying their FE processes to facilitate and account for continued faculty development. For example, Kim et al. (2016) found that when one medical school implemented a new portfoliobased faculty evaluation designed to measure participation in educational activities, the number of educational activities faculty participated in increased. Additionally, when one university switched to a multisource method of evaluation (MME), faculty were found to positively perceive the formative aspects of the new process—such as how the MME led them to reflect on their roles and abilities as teachers—but still criticized the processes' more summative features focused on providing data for personnel decisions (Lyde et al., 2016).

Though the above examples serve as illustrations of institutional attempts to create FE processes focused on the improvement of teaching, faculty often continue to perceive FE processes to serve primarily summative purposes (Lyde et al., 2016).

Underemphasizing the formative aspects of FE in favor of summative goals is associated with multiple negative outcomes, especially related to faculty perceptions of the FE process and their motivation to participate in it. One study that investigated community

college faculty perceptions of the FE process found that faculty believed the most important purpose of FE should be to encourage "development as educators" (Channing, 2017, p.758). When the FE process fails to function in a way that helps instructors improve their instructional capacities, it is plausible that their perception of the process and their motivation to participate in it will decline, an argument other scholars in the field of FE have previously noted (Podsiad, 2020; Theall, 2017). When faculty lack investment in the FE process, it is unlikely that their participation in it will result in any significant development as professionals.

Relevance to TCUs

Indigenous students have become well acquainted with the "asterisk phenomenon," situations where, due to statistical insignificance, they were omitted from data and instead represented with an asterisk (Arizona State University, 2014). As previously noted, this "data invisibility" has tangible effects, primarily concerning the needs of Native students being overlooked (Shotton et al., 2013). Like Native students, there is also limited data available regarding TCUs and their faculty. For instance, a keyword search containing the phrase "faculty evaluation" conducted on ProQuest on June 15, 2021, returned 1,013,699 results. Changing the search phrase to "faculty evaluation + Tribal College" yielded only 16,407 results. Furthermore, when the results were limited to academic journal articles, the results containing the phrase "Tribal College" dropped to just 3,382. This scarcity of existing data on TCUs, in addition to the processes and practices in which they engage, presents issues for TCU faculty similar to those faced by Native students. With a deficiency of research focused on TCUs, their

leaders and other employees lack information that could inform their decisions and support the continued success of their institutions. Creating visibility around what TCUs have tried, specifically those actions that have yielded positive results, has the potential to benefit the greater TCU community.

Even though the available research on TCUs and their faculty comprises less than .02% of the scholarly literature around FE, the data that is available should not be overlooked as it offers valuable insight regarding TCU faculty and their needs. For example, in Al-Asfour and Young's (2017) study investigating faculty perceptions of their professional development needs, they found TCU faculty perceived a gap between their teaching success and the development they would like to receive in the area of instruction; in other words, TCU faculty expressed feeling only moderately successful as instructors and strongly desired to receive PD in this area. Notably, TCU faculty are not alone in their desire to receive instructional-focused PD. As illustrated in Bunkowski and Shelton's (2019) case study of one TCU, administrators also recognized the importance of providing ongoing PD for their faculty, particularly in the area of culturally-based or culturally-responsive course design. This experienced desire by TCU faculty and observed need by TCU administrators to improve instructional performance among TCU faculty signifies the importance of further investigating how FE can contribute to PD.

As TCUs strive to improve student outcomes, focusing on the creation and implementation of processes that the faculty perceive as useful to their development is an important place to begin. If faculty view FE as a supportive and constructive process, then they will be more likely to invest in it (Gillman et al., 2018; Theall, 2017). The

benefits to the students are the most notable outcome of faculty who are engaged in continuous PD because as TCU faculty feel encouraged to develop their instructional effectiveness and they take steps to do so, student outcomes will improve. In fact, "high-quality instruction" was one of two factors found to be a strong predictor of TCU students' integration into the campus environment and their continued success therein (Butler & Al-Asfour, 2018, p. 53). Data provided from the largest survey of TCU alumni to-date echoed those findings, noting that TCU graduates were nearly twice as likely as Native American students who did not attend a TCU to report they felt cared about by the faculty and had a mentor that encouraged them to work toward their goals (College Fund, 2019). As shown by the data, the impacts of effective faculty are profound, further illustrating the need for the creation and implementation of FE processes that support faculty needs and facilitate their growth.

Problem Statement

A desire to develop is a common trait for any faculty member working in higher education, including those working at TCUs (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017; Bunkowski & Shelton, 2019). However, because TCUs are unique in their mission to facilitate both academic and cultural advancement, the PD needs faced by TCU faculty are wideranging and often include place-based knowledge that extends beyond content knowledge. TCU leaders must purposefully design their environments to meet the academic and cultural needs of their tribal communities by combining "rich Indigenous content" with "approaches to learning and student support considered essential to sustaining a successful learning environment for Native American students" (DeLong et

al., 2016, p. 66). In other words, along with maintaining their expertise in particular fields of study and instructional best-practices, TCU faculty must also be aware of how they view and approach the concept of teaching and learning as it occurs within the culture and context of their particular institutions.

Considering the data invisibility currently experienced by TCUs, it is largely unknown how their FE processes have been designed or what practices they include. Without this information, it is not surprising that faculty experiences with their institution's FE process and their perceptions of how FE practices contribute to their PD is also a mystery at TCUs. The ultimate purpose of this qualitative study is to understand and share information related to FE at TCUs that can be applied to promote the continued success of TCUs by supporting the development of their faculty. To achieve the goal of this study, it will both explore how faculty working at TCUs have experienced the FE process and also identify FE practices TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their development as professionals.

Research Questions

The objective of this study is to discover how faculty working at Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) have experienced the faculty evaluation (FE) process and identify FE practices TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their PD. With the information gained as a result of this study, FE processes at TCUs could be better understood and, if needed, modified to better facilitate continuous professional growth among faculty working at TCUs. To address the objective of this study, the following research questions were created:

- 1. How have faculty at Tribal Colleges and Universities experienced the faculty evaluation process at their institutions?
- 2. What faculty evaluation practices do faculty at Tribal Colleges and Universities perceive to contribute to their professional development?

Assumptions

The researcher has served in a full-time faculty role at a TCU for more than eight years, and as such, holds her own assumptions regarding the FE experience. Experiencing mandatory annual faculty evaluations during each year of employment has influenced the researcher's perspective on this topic, especially in regard to the purpose of FE and how well it fulfills that purpose. In addition to personal assumptions, the researcher holds assumptions about the TCU faculty experience in general and how this experience could influence this group's perception of FE.

TCU Faculty Perceptions of FE

Based on the researcher's experiences and observations as a TCU faculty member, she assumes that a majority of TCU faculty have participated in the FE process and that their participation was typically mandatory. Additionally, because most TCUs do not use a tenure system, the researcher assumes that experiencing an annual FE will be common. In regard to the relationship between FE and PD, the researcher assumes that faculty employed at TCUs will perceive their institution's FE practices to contribute to their development as professionals only minimally. The rationale for the researcher's assumptions is situated in the multifaceted position TCU faculty members fulfill. In addition to teaching multiple courses and sections each semester, TCU faculty members

often serve as student advisors, participate in multiple committees, provide extra tutoring and counseling before and after class, and participate in campus and community events. Furthermore, TCU faculty members must balance the effective delivery of subject matter with an awareness of Tribal values and how history has impacted their students and communities (Antoine, 2013). Recognizing the cultural context in which they are located, TCU faculty members often revise or create curriculum to better align with a place-based approach. Moreover, many TCUs are located in rural, high-poverty areas that serve a number of first-generation students, factors that certainly highlight the importance of TCUs, but also present a number of challenges for TCU faculty.

For TCU faculty to experience the FE process as a worthwhile one that consists of practices perceived to contribute to their growth as professionals, the FE process would have to facilitate their development as professionals in a wide range of areas, including culturally responsive teaching and trauma informed care. From experience, the researcher assumes that current FE processes fail to effectively account for the context in which they are being used. To effectively contribute to faculty growth, the FE process itself would need to be place-based and informed by faculty input.

Theoretical Frameworks

Self-determination Theory

Researchers have increasingly applied the tenets of Deci and Ryan's (1985) concept of Self-determination theory (SDT) to studies concerning motivation and workplace performance, including those focused on faculty perceptions and behaviors (Daumiller et al., 2019). Based on the goal of the present study—to better understand

how faculty working at TCUs have experienced the FE process and perceive FE practices to contribute to their PD—SDT functions as a useful guide. At the core of SDT is the belief that when people are functioning optimally, they are self-motivated in their drive to develop (Ryan & Deci, 2000). To understand how individuals can obtain optimal functioning, the spotlight on biological factors must be removed and replaced with a focus on environmental factors instead. For this study, the FE process and its associated practices are the primary environmental factors of concern.

According to SDT, to understand how motivation can vary from person-to-person or group-to-group, how social contexts meet and foster basic psychological needs—specifically autonomy, competency, and relatedness—must be acknowledged (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Essentially, to better account for individual differences in motivational levels and types, it is necessary to look at the surrounding environments. If people feel they have agency to make their own decisions, they are capable of performing in their assigned roles, and they are connected to and supported by others, they will demonstrate higher levels of well-being and overall work performance (Olafsen et al., 2018). Given the potential for FE to function as a formative process that would therefore support the basic psychological needs of faculty, investigating how faculty currently experience the FE process and perceive its associated practices to contribute to their PD is crucial. As Ryan and Deci (2020) concluded in their review of the SDT literature related to teacher wellness and student outcomes, "how teachers are supported from 'above' affects their capacities to support and optimally motivate the students and teachers 'below'" (p. 7). An

SDT framework would encourage the use of an FE process that TCU faculty experience as supportive of their needs and conducive to their development as professionals.

An Indigenous Framework for Evaluation

An Indigenous framework for evaluation emphasizes that individual tribes have their own ways of knowing, that research should be conducted to meet community needs, and that evaluation is an opportunity for learning (LaFrance & Nichols, 2009). Prior to the creation of an official Indigenous Evaluation Framework in 2009, research and evaluation were not absent from tribal communities; however, the research and evaluation that was conducted was often done *to* these communities rather than with or for these communities (LaFrance & Nichols, 2010). It is not difficult to see why many Indigenous people hold negative assumptions about the practices of research and evaluation. A majority of tribes have experienced being researched and evaluated by those who have no connection to the tribal communities being researched or understanding of their history and values. Unfortunately, these studies have frequently resulted in a loss of resources and served as justifications for such costs (LaFrance & Nichols, 2009). In a response to these often invasive studies enacted upon tribal communities by outside entities, an Indigenous Evaluation Framework was formed.

An Indigenous Evaluation Framework is composed of guiding values that can be incorporated in a number of different contexts, including higher education (LaFrance & Nichols, 2010). When applied to the evaluation of TCU faculty in particular, an Indigenous framework for evaluation illustrates the importance of creating and

implementing a formative process that contributes to the continued growth of TCU faculty and results in greater service to their students and communities.

Definition of terms

American Indian College Fund (the College Fund) – A charity that provides scholarships, programming, and support to Native students to increase their access to and success in higher education (the College Fund, 2021).

American Indian Higher Education Consortium (AIHEC) – A 501(c)(3) nonprofit governed by TCU presidents designed to support and advance educational opportunities for Native Americans by influencing public policy, increasing mentoring, and offering guidance for new organizations (AIHEC, 2021)

Faculty Evaluation (FE) – A system or process designed to elicit information to measure faculty performance and provide useful information for faculty growth (Arreola, 1999)

Minority Serving Institution (MSI) – A higher education institution designed to serve minority populations, including Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs), Hispanic-Serving Institutions (HSIs), Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs), and Asian American and Pacific Islander Serving Institutions (AAPISIs) (Department of the Interior, 2021)

Native American/American Indian/Indigenous/Native – Though there is no standard best term used to represent existing Tribal groups, this collection of terms is often used interchangeably by both researchers and non-researchers alike to represent the multiple Tribal groups in the US (Deloria et al., 2018)

Place-based Education – Used in reference to TCUs, place-based education is that which acknowledges and is informed by the traditions and wisdom of the local tribal community (American Indian College Fund, 2021)

Professional Development (PD) – Activities, work, or programs designed to improve a professional's knowledge, skills, and abilities within a particular field (Pak et al., 2020) Self-determination Era- A time period marked by movements and policies designed to empower tribes to control their own nations (Strommer & Kickingbird, 2015) Self-determination Theory (SDT) – A theory of human development founded on the relationship between the support of people's basic psychological needs and motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2020)

Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCU) – Tribally-chartered institutions of higher education designed to facilitate both cultural and academic opportunities (AIHEC, 2021)

Literature Review

Though faculty evaluation (FE) has continued to evolve, conversations about its purpose and how it could be best designed to meet that purpose are ongoing (Carmack & LeFebvre, 2019; Gillman et al., 2018; Opidee, 2018). Recent research has advocated for a handful of guidelines regarding best practices in the evaluation of faculty (Benton & Young, 2018; Lyde et al., 2016), while at the same time acknowledging that the process should be tailored to meet the needs of individual higher education institutions, disciplines, and delivery models (DeCosta et al., 2016; Thomas, 2018). In accordance with the idea of designing context-specific or place-based FE processes, this study is

intended to contribute to an area that has yet to be studied: faculty evaluation at Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs).

This literature review first looks at TCUs—the historical context that prompted their creation, the unique missions that drive their purpose, and the obstacles they face moving forward. TCU faculty will then be discussed, focusing on the array of roles they fulfill, their impact on student success, and their professional development (PD) needs. Following the discussion of TCUs and their faculty, a brief history of FE will be examined to illustrate how the process has evolved to how it is currently understood, designed, and implemented. The roles of culture and context in the creation of an effective FE will then be analyzed, before addressing the connection between FE and PD. This review concludes by emphasizing the importance of considering faculty perceptions regarding FE and the need to create place-based, formative FE processes.

The Historical Context of Native American Education in the United States

The long-lasting, damaging outcomes produced by the U.S. government's approach to educating Native Americans have been well documented (Charbonneau-Dahlen et al., 2016; Running Bear et al., 2018). Undergirded by assimilationist goals, many of the policies extending from the 19th to 20th centuries depended upon removing Native children from their families and communities. When separated, these children were often placed in boarding schools hundreds of miles away (Stull et al., 2015). Removed from their communities, Native American children were commonly forced to succumb to policies and practices designed to eradicate signs of their Tribal identity and hasten their assimilation into European culture (Running Bear et al., 2018). Some of the

most widely-known boarding school practices were carried out immediately upon the children's arrival and focused specifically on the erasure of all cultural markers: long braids were cut, traditional clothing was replaced with European attire, and the speaking of Tribal languages was prohibited (Native American Rights Fund [NARF], n.d.). If children attempted to resist the practices to which they were exposed, they were frequently met with some form of corporal punishment, including beatings, isolation, and denial of food (Running Bear et al., 2018). Furthermore, both on- and off-reservation boarding schools were found to have a number of environmental and health concerns, such as inadequate lighting, poor ventilation, and a lack of basic hygiene products like soap; these conditions, combined with overcrowding, served as primary contributors to the diseases that spread quickly through boarding schools and were responsible for thousands of childhood deaths (DeJong, 2007; NARF, n.d.).

By the 1920's, over 60,000 Native American school-aged children were in boarding schools (Adams, 1995). Though the number of Native students in boarding schools steadily decreased over the 20th century, Native American families lacked any legal foundation that would have allowed them to prevent their children from being placed in off-reservation homes and boarding schools until the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) was passed in 1978 (National Indian Child Welfare Association [NICWA], 2021). Even with the passing of ICWA, Christianization, forced acculturation, and assimilation continued to drive approaches to Native American education (Brayboy & Tsianina Lomawaima, 2018). Not only were tribal communities left to deal with the trauma associated with many of their members' educational experiences, but also with

the task of accepting a colonialist education system that was designed to "civilize" them rather than to respect their tribal cultures and meet their needs.

Boarding Schools: Implications for Current Native American Education in the United States

Native American people continue to experience repercussions from the boarding school era. In studies investigating the link between the boarding school experience and historical trauma, researchers found countless children experienced wide-ranging and farreaching physical, sexual, and emotional abuse (Charbonneau-Dahlen et al., 2016; Running Bear et al., 2018). These types of traumatic events not only harmed the children who were directly impacted, but their future generations as well. The forced abdication of their cultural identity accompanied by other forms of abuse caused many Native people to struggle with depression and drug use, effects that continue to harm Native communities today (NARF, 2019). In addition to psychosocial challenges, economic hardship has continued to plague Native people, especially those living on reservations. In fact, nearly 40% of Native Americans living on reservations are living below the poverty line (National Congress of American Indians [NCAI], 2021). Struggles with mental health, drug use, and poverty are difficult to deal with on their own, and their adverse impacts on educational attainment have been widely shown (Blair & Raver, 2016; Porche et al., 2016). However, Native people face an additional hurdle related to educational success—reconciling conflicted perceptions toward educational institutions fostered by their role in inflicting and perpetuating the trauma that continues to impact many tribal communities.

Though boarding schools targeted elementary-aged children, efforts to assimilate Native Americans into European society occurred in higher education as well. While not as detrimental in their consequences, these attempts were just as unsuccessful in their outcomes (Carney, 2021). In fact, though Harvard, William and Mary, and Dartmouth articulated goals of educating Native Americans, in the eighty years following their founding and leading up to the American Revolution in 1783, these institutions graduated a combined total of only four Native students (McClellan et al., 2005). The history of failed and detrimental approaches to Native American education, taken together with the beginning of the self-determination era in the late 1960s, moved Native people to take control of their education in a way that would allow for the respect and survival of their Tribal cultures; from this, Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) were born (Stull et al., 2015).

The Creation and Continued Importance of Tribal Colleges and Universities

Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) are unique and important higher education institutions, as captured by their missions that articulate both academic and cultural goals. Of the 37 TCUs in the United States, all were chartered by Tribal governments to meet the needs of their local communities; as such, Tribal culture and language are foundational components of their institutional outcomes (American Indian Higher Education Consortium [AIHEC], 2021; Center for Community College Student Engagement [CCCSE], 2019; Marroquin, 2018). Even though the persistence, retention, and graduation rates for students attending TCUs tend to be lower than those of other institution types (Stull et al., 2015), focusing only on these traditional measures of

academic success without contextualizing them portrays TCUs as ineffective institutions. Furthermore, the benefits TCUs provide to their communities cannot be captured by looking at student data alone.

Despite the challenges TCUs face, TCUs have proven themselves as integral to the advancement of Native Americans today (AIHEC, 2020). In fact, in a study investigating the relationship between previous TCU attendance and eventual mainstream graduation rates, Bryan (2019) found that Native American students who attended a TCU before transferring to a mainstream institution were more likely to graduate with their bachelor's degree than those who had no prior TCU affiliation. Brown's (2017) analysis of graduation rates for Native American students in Montana resulted in similar findings, illustrating that Native American TCU transfer students were nearly twice as likely to graduate as their counterparts who began at mainstream institutions. Given the aforementioned data, continuing to find ways to support TCUs, their faculty, and the work they do is necessary to improve outcomes for those they serve.

In considering the unique purposes fulfilled by TCUs, it becomes clear that multiple types and streams of support are needed for these institutions to continue fulfilling their missions. The success of TCUs is facilitated by their dedication to meet the needs of their students and communities in very tangible ways, primarily by being accessible both geographically and financially (Song, 2016). Multiple publications have noted that without TCUs, many of those living in some of the poorest and most rural areas in the United States would have no other opportunity to pursue postsecondary education (Espinosa et al., 2018; Exec. Order No. 13592, 2011; Postsecondary National

Policy Institute [PNPI], 2019). In addition to their location, TCUs have an open-door policy, meaning regardless of previous academic achievement, students who submit complete application packages will be accepted (DeLong et al., 2016). Furthermore, TCUs support their students and wider communities by offering services such as childcare, transportation, and GED tutoring and testing (Stull et al., 2015).

Even though TCU student enrollment has increased over the past two decades, the funding these institutions receive continues to fall far short of what they need to continue to accomplish their purpose (Nelson & Frye, 2016). State and local governments have obligations to provide funding for other types of Minority-serving institutions (MSIs), but not for TCUs (Droll, 2020). This lack of revenue forces TCUs to rely on funding from the federal government. Since the federal government provides funding only for Native students attending TCUs (but not non-Native students attending TCUs) and has consistently provided less than the amount authorized (Shreve, 2019), TCUs—including their personnel—are continuously put in the position of having to do more with less.

TCU Faculty

Very little published research exists on TCU faculty. In fact, the American Indian College Fund (the College Fund) administered both the first and last cohesive survey of TCU faculty in 2003 (Voorhees, 2004). Though the data on TCU faculty is scarce, Collins (2018) stated that like other community college faculty, TCU faculty spend most of their time teaching, in addition to fulfilling several other student services and advising roles. It is no surprise that after their review of a collection of research on faculty

employed at community colleges, Gonzales and Ayers (2018) found community college faculty to be "under-supported and overstretched..." (p. 456).

The extensive amount of work performed by TCU faculty is in part due to the chronic lack of funding TCUs have experienced (Nelson & Frye, 2016). Unsatisfactory funding has left TCUs unable to hire support personnel needed to help them fully meet their students' needs, including the instructional and support needs of the majority who qualify for remedial courses (Community College Center for Student Engagement [CCCSE], 2019). In a brief detailing the "Breaking Through" model designed to promote success for underprepared students attending community colleges, His Horse is Thunder (2011) underscored that comprehensive student support services would be needed for this model to work, noting that this would involve the hiring and training of employees prepared to provide these services effectively. Yet, due to the lack of funding for extra support personnel, TCU faculty often fulfill various support roles in addition to teaching, serving on committees, and performing other advisory duties (Bryan, 2019). As illustrated by one TCU faculty member who compared their work expectations to that of the "Duracell bunny" (Antoine, 2013), to describe TCU faculty as "busy" is an understatement.

The demands TCU faculty face should not be ignored. Given the positive relationship between faculty-student interaction and student success in TCUs and other higher education environments (Al-Asfour et al., 2020; Lancaster & Lundberg, 2019), it is important for institutional leaders to be cognizant of faculty needs. Stupinsky et al.'s (2019) study of pre-tenure faculty emotions corroborates this point with their findings

that illustrated wide-ranging positive and negative emotions among faculty; the researchers recommended administrators implement practices designed to increase faculty feelings of value in order to strengthen their development and boost retention. Though this study focused on faculty representing mainstream institutions, it would be expected that the range of emotions experienced by those teaching while simultaneously fulfilling multiple other roles would be similar. Recognizing the amount of pressure that accompanies the need to successfully perform in several roles again calls attention to the need for continued faculty support and development.

Considering the assortment of roles TCU faculty fulfill in addition to the unique environments in which they work, early and ongoing instructional support is necessary. As illustrated by the few published studies that have addressed TCU faculty development, both faculty and administrators alike consider PD an essential component of faculty success (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017; Bunkowski & Shelton, 2019). Moreover, findings have shown that in addition to simply perceiving PD as important, TCU faculty desire to receive more of it, especially within the areas of culturally-responsive curriculum and instruction (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017). Used as a tool to help facilitate PD, FE becomes an important area of focus.

Faculty Evaluation

History and Purpose

In the book *Grading the College: A History of Evaluating Teaching and Learning*, Gelber (2020) surmised that the evaluation of teaching and learning at a post-secondary level began in the 1920s, and that for a period of approximately fifty years,

supervisor and student evaluations were the most used types of FE across institutions. Though these two types of evaluations have been used for decades, they are not infallible in their measurement of faculty performance, including the quality of teaching. Many scholars have agreed that effectively evaluating faculty performance is a difficult endeavor (Benton & Young, 2018; Wieman, 2015) and has never been flawless (Opidee, 2018). Furthermore, not to be overlooked in a discussion of FE is the ongoing issue of how the data produced as part of the FE process can be used to help faculty enhance their skills (Benton & Young, 2018).

Faculty Evaluation: The Current Context

More recently, scholars interested in FE have increasingly called for approaches focused on the improvement of faculty performance (Lutz et al., 2018; Opidee, 2018; Theall, 2017; Weiman, 2019). While research productivity is a common marker of faculty performance at mainstream institutions (Schimanski & Alperin, 2018), the primary role of faculty employed at community colleges and TCUs is teaching.

Considering studies have shown that focusing on service, research productivity, or content knowledge does not stand in for good teaching (Cadez et al., 2015; Weiman, 2015), the evaluation of teaching needs to be considered a worthy endeavor in itself and designed as such (Wieman, 2015). With the acknowledgement that improved teaching quality leads to more desirable student outcomes that in turn facilitate continued institutional wellbeing (Mangum, 2017), it is easy to see why a college or university would find it worthwhile to design and implement an FE process informed by the goal of continued teaching improvement.

In addition to internal benefits, increased pressure from external accreditation agencies has catalyzed institutions of higher education to confirm they have well-designed processes in place meant to ensure faculty continue to excel in the area of teaching and learning. For example, the New England Commission of Higher Education and the Higher Learning Commission list accreditation guidelines that include standards requiring institutions to design and integrate FE processes that regularly evaluate faculty and facilitate their professional development (Higher Learning Commission, 2021; New England Commission of Higher Education, 2021). The combination of potential organizational benefits in conjunction with external accountability factors contributes to ongoing research in the area of FE.

The Use of Multiple Measures. Even though there is no "one size fits all" approach for FE, the consensus among scholars is that its utmost priority should be to improve student learning (ASCCC, 2013; Benton & Young, 2018; Lutz et al., 2018), an outcome in alignment with an Indigenous worldview emphasizing personal growth as a means to contribute more significantly to the greater community (LaFrance et al., 2012). With the improvement of student learning as the goal, the focus of FE lands squarely on the improvement of faculty teaching. The question then arises: How do institutions—including TCUs—know which FE practices will best contribute to an improvement of teaching?

To reach the most accurate conclusions about a teacher's performance, current research advocates for the use of multiple measures, with student, peer, self, and supervisor assessments being widely employed (Berk, 2018; DeCosta et al., 2016).

Additionally, educator or teacher portfolios have been implemented more recently and often include evidence from a combination of the four primary measures mentioned above (LeVan, 2020). Ensuring data are being gathered from multiple sources allows the evaluation to be both thorough and fair, two qualities that help prevent faculty from losing trust in a process that relies solely on one approach (Benton & Young, 2018). Research has shown that the type of measure in addition to how the measure is designed and implemented influences how faculty perceive its usefulness (Williams & Hebert, 2020). Because it is probable that TCU faculty have experienced at least one of the common practices and that this exposure has influenced their experience with the FE process, a brief overview of each measure and what research has revealed about its perceived usefulness will be discussed below.

Student Evaluation of Teaching (SET). The debate about the usefulness of student evaluation of teaching (SET), also referred to as student rating of instruction (SRI), has been ongoing for decades (Gelber, 2020). Even though numerous studies have found SET to be bias, especially toward marginalized groups (Austin, 2021; Boring, 2017; Keng, 2020), and others have shown faculty to be aware of this bias (Shreffler et al., 2019), SET continues to be one of the most commonly used approaches to evaluate teacher performance and influences decisions regarding promotion and tenure in many institutions (McClain et al., 2017; Opidee, 2018). The continued use of SET illustrates what many scholars have concluded: even though the practice of SET is controversial, it is still viewed as one type of evaluation capable of producing meaningful data (Benton & Young, 2018; Wieman, 2015).

As a group, faculty have been found to agree with the potential formative value regarding the information gleaned from SET, but not necessarily its summative value (Newton et al., 2019); in other words, even though faculty might not view SET as a valid marker of teaching effectiveness, they still perceive it as an opportunity to learn from students' experiences in their classes. In fact, research has found that faculty *desire* to receive feedback from their students, particularly detailed, qualitative feedback (Lutz et al., 2018), and that they rely on SET results for continued development (Debroy et al., 2019). The fact that faculty have expressed a desire to receive more detailed, qualitative feedback from the SET illustrates they not only care about student perceptions, but also find them useful. What is important to keep in mind, however, is that the way the SET is designed and implemented, in addition to whether it serves a formative or summative purpose, impacts how faculty perceive it (Williams & Hebert, 2020). Given this conclusion, rather than eliminating SET because of its imperfections, designing it to serve a formative purpose could maximize its perceived and actual usefulness for faculty.

Peer Evaluations and Faculty Collaboration. Peer evaluations have been suggested as an approach to minimize the possibility of relying too heavily on any one type of evaluation practice such as SET (Miles & House, 2015). Furthermore, peer evaluations have been found to be viewed favorably by faculty, specifically when combined with follow-up meetings to discuss the observations (Brickman et al., 2016). The findings from Donnelli-Sallee and Autry's (2018) study of one institution's implementation of a peer review of teaching program corroborated a positive view of the peer review practice. In their qualitative responses, instructors revealed they felt the

feedback produced as part of the peer review was both constructive and motivating, highlighting two potential benefits of incorporating peer evaluation practices within the FE process.

In addition to offering perspectives beyond those provided through SET, peer evaluations often facilitate collaboration among faculty and allow them to stand as the experts in their fields (ASCCC, 2013; Fletcher, 2018). When FE processes are designed to include or even rely upon peer evaluations, faculty are portrayed as capable professionals responsible for individual and communal growth. In turn, peer review practices could very well contribute to feelings of greater autonomy, competency, and relatedness, and therefore improve faculty motivation and performance (Ryan & Deci, 2020). Given the potential benefit of making peer evaluations part of FE, it is worthwhile to explore how they are used and perceived by faculty employed at TCUs.

Self-evaluation. Self-evaluation is closely connected to self-reflection, an integral practice in the production of personal insight and professional development (Slade et al., 2020). Moreover, both aspiring and current educators working with Indigenous youth have been shown to grow in their knowledge and application of teaching practices when they incorporated self-reflection into their practice (Oskineegish, 2019). Furthermore, Scott et al. (2021) found when therapists regularly practiced self-reflection, they experienced lower levels of burnout, a salient point to consider for TCU faculty who often fulfill a number of roles with minimal resources. Additionally, findings have illustrated a positive correlation between self-reflection and professional development, observing that moreadvanced teachers regularly practice critical reflection (Szucs, 2018; Tursini, 2017).

In connection with FE, self-evaluation practices are not only easy to implement alongside other evaluation approaches, but also tend to be perceived positively by faculty (AAUP, 2015; Rigler et al., 2016). Moreover, self-evaluation has been shown to increase the efficacy of other evaluation approaches by allowing the individuals being evaluated to reflect upon the practices used throughout the evaluation process (Donnelli-Sallee & Autry, 2018). Essentially, self-evaluation is easy to incorporate, generally well-received, and capable of strengthening the FE process overall. Given the benefits associated with self-evaluation, it is worthwhile to investigate how TCU faculty have experienced and perceive the use of this practice.

Observations as part of the FE process, yet this approach often produces anxiety among those being evaluated contributing to the long-held negative view of this practice (Tawalbeh, 2020). Like other methods, however, there are factors that have been found to influence the efficacy of supervisor observations in addition to how faculty perceive them as a tool used within the FE process, with implementation approaches being especially important. For example, Tawalbeh (2020) found that faculty tend to be more satisfied with observation practices when the purpose of the observation is clarified beforehand.

Additionally, multiple "mini observations" have been found to be more effective than one, class-long observation (Marshall, 2017). Furthermore, the observations themselves have shown to have their greatest impact on teaching when the supervisor follows them with individual instructor meetings (Marshall & Marshall, 2017). Similar to the other measures discussed, when consciously designed and implemented, specific observation practices

used to evaluate faculty teaching performance have the potential to function as a constructive tool and therefore be viewed more favorably by faculty. Exploring TCU faculty perceptions of supervisor observations will allow for a more detailed understanding of how this practice has been used and perceived at TCUs.

been implemented as part of the FE process since the 1980s and serve various purposes, including the promotion of continued growth of faculty through reflection (Deshpande et al., 2019; Matthews, 2018). An educator's portfolio often contains a number of artifacts and a variety of data such as assignment examples, student evaluations, statements from peers, and even video of the faculty member teaching a class (Vanderbilt University, 2021). The variety in scope a portfolio provides allows faculty to consider and portray a holistic picture of their performance in a cohesive package (LeVan, 2020). Furthermore, portfolios are typically cumulative and therefore serve as excellent tools to capture and illustrate progress over time.

Even though portfolios have many benefits related to teaching and learning, the amount of time and effort that is needed to create a well-rounded and strong portfolio often exceeds that required by other evaluation methods. Because faculty members must devote a high level of continuous engagement in the creation and management of their portfolios, it could be thought that this type of evaluation tool would be overly burdensome for community college and TCU faculty. Yet, given faculty members' desire to develop in their roles as instructors, the process of creating a teaching portfolio could be perceived and experienced as a beneficial and worthwhile one. Uncovering TCU

faculty experiences with teaching portfolios could clarify their perception of the usefulness of this approach.

The Role of Culture and Context in the Creation of Effective FE

Though culture and context are often used interchangeably, they are distinct concepts with the difference most easily understood by viewing context as a cultural production (Savard & Mizoguchi, 2019); given this distinction, both must be considered when higher education organizations attempt to design and implement an effective FE process (Theall, 2017), especially at TCUs given their unique place-based missions. The Northwest Indian College (NWIC) serves as one example of a TCU that has demonstrated the importance of culture in designing the FE process and the practices of which it consists. After NWIC revised their FE process so that it included culturally relevant indicators specific to their institution, they noted faculty were more comfortable visiting with their peers about teaching practices and better able to examine their own development as instructors (Compton et al., 2016). The implications of NWIC's efforts deserve clarification: by using the local Tribal culture as a foundational influence in the creation of the FE process, the results impacted the larger context and benefitted the overall environment.

Even while acknowledging that it is beneficial for the culture of an individual institution to inform the creation and implementation of that institution's FE process (Opidee, 2018), it would be erroneous to assume that any one process or the practices included therein would not be useful at other institutions, especially those with similar missions or demographics. The Academy Senate for California Community Colleges

survey on FEs (ASCCC, 2013) serves as an example illustrating how a list of generally-applicable best practices can be formed by considering multiple, related data sources. By focusing on similarities among individual faculty responses representative of multiple two-year institutions across California, the ASCCC was able to create relevant, state-wide FE suggestions for community colleges in their report *Sound Principles for Evaluation Processes*. Even though TCUs represent unique institutions and vary according to their individual tribal cultures, their contextual similarities would allow for a high level of transference regarding the design and implementation of FE. Of course, creating awareness among the efficacy of current FE processes and practices is the first step.

FE: A Tool for Continuous Improvement

Regardless of the measures and practices used to evaluate faculty, facilitating an effective FE process relies upon faculty involvement during both the creation and implementation stages (Fayez et al., 2019), a position supported by the AAUP's *Statement on Teaching Evaluation* (AAUP, 2015). Inviting faculty to contribute to the creation and design of the FE process increases their perception of its worth; once faculty are on board, they are apt to participate willingly as long as they continue to see the process as valuable (Fayez et al., 2019), or as research has shown, constructive (Benton & Young, 2018; Opidee, 2018; Theall, 2017). It is no surprise that the reception of constructive feedback weighs heavily on faculty perceptions of evaluation practices; faculty—and in this case, TCU faculty in particular—want to be good at what they do, and constructive feedback helps them not only fulfill their required duties but also excel

while doing so (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017; Bunkowski & Shelton, 2019). In essence, faculty want to grow, and the reception of quality feedback can help them do so more effectively (Niyivuga et al., 2019). What an in-depth review of the literature reveals, however, is that studies have not yet investigated the specifics underlying the design, implementation, and assessment of PD, particularly as these factors pertain to TCUs. How to ensure effective PD, however, does not have to be guesswork. Within the FE process lies the potential to identify PD needs and assess the impacts of PD activities.

As a process, FE can identify how faculty are performing in the classroom, highlight areas of strength and weakness, offer support and resources for development, and determine how faculty members have grown (Benton & Young, 2018), but to meet those objectives, the FE process must be consciously created to do so (Opidee, 2018). In other words, if the FE process focuses on formative goals rather than only summative ones, it has the potential to facilitate continuous faculty development.

The Importance of Studying Faculty Perceptions of FE

Understanding how TCU faculty perceive the FE process to contribute to their PD has implications that transcend FE's ability to successfully assess teaching performance and provide guidance for growth. As found in DeCosta et al.'s (2016) qualitative study of online faculty perceptions of faculty evaluation, more than anything else, faculty desire to grow in their instructional capacities. Understanding this need for faculty to develop in their roles is the keystone to designing and implementing effective FE processes. Do faculty feel like they are able to grow as a result of participating in the FE process? If yes, then the process is viewed as meaningful, making faculty more likely to participate. If no,

then faculty view it as an obligation, an unnecessary requirement important only because it is tied to their job security and promotion potential (Theall, 2017).

Both Self-determination theory (SDT) and an Indigenous Evaluation Framework provide lenses underscoring the importance of continued development. Primary tenets of SDT are that people are inherently motivated to develop and can best do so in a supportive environment (Ryan & Deci, 2000). When individuals view an act as one that supports their ability to develop, they will be more motivated to engage with it, which results in higher levels of participation and greater performance (Ryan & Deci, 2020). By acknowledging the relationship between perception and motivation, designing the FE process to be viewed positively by faculty becomes imperative to its ability to function effectively. If administrators want the FE process to give them accurate results of how well their faculty are performing, then they will need the faculty to fully engage in the process. For faculty to fully engage, they will need to view the process as worthwhile. An Indigenous Evaluation Framework also emphasizes growth, specifically the importance of focusing on the use of evaluation to "better understand and improve programs" (AIHEC, 2009, p. 108). In other words, for TCU faculty, the FE process should be about developing a better understanding of their roles as instructors and improving their instructional capacities. Both SDT and an Indigenous Evaluation Framework work together to support the creation of FE processes that TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their ongoing development as professionals.

Conclusion

Faculty evaluation has been a long-standing yet imperfect process. Considering the potential for FE to inform and facilitate effective PD, studying how FE is perceived to do that is a worthwhile endeavor. Identifying the FE processes and practices currently in place at TCUs along with how their faculty perceive these processes and practices to contribute to their development as professionals is a start. Given the uniqueness of TCUs and the paucity of data currently available on TCUs and their faculty (Nelson, 2017), investigating the relationship between FE and PD as it pertains to TCUs and their faculty is especially important. Furthermore, because TCU faculty have expressed a desire to receive PD tailored to their instructional roles (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017), TCUs could use the findings from this study to revise their current FE processes so that they consist of practices perceived by faculty to support their development. Modifying the FE process so that faculty perceive it as worthwhile could very well increase faculty motivation to participate, thereby resulting in continuous and effective PD.

Research Design

Using a qualitative phenomenological design, the researcher will investigate TCU faculty experiences with faculty evaluation (FE) and their perspectives of it, with the ultimate goal of identifying specific FE practices faculty perceive to contribute to their development as professionals. A qualitative phenomenological approach is appropriate for this study because it allows for the researcher to become immersed in a range of TCU faculty perspectives in order develop a deep understanding of their experiences with FE (Creswell, 2013). Furthermore, data gained from qualitative interviews can often

contribute to the creation of future quantitative instruments designed to focus on similar concepts with a similar demographic (Ortiz, 2016). Considering the dearth of research that currently exists on FE at TCUs, the content produced with this qualitative study could assist in the future creation of an appropriate survey instrument.

Methods

Participants

The population of this study includes full-time faculty employed at any of the 37 TCUs in the Fall 2021 semester. Additionally, to be included in the study, each faculty member will be required to have previously participated in the FE process at their current TCU. Faculty who are not employed at a TCU during the fall 2021 semester, who are not considered full-time, and who have not participated in the FE process at their current TCU will be excluded from participating in the study. Non-faculty TCU employees will also be excluded. Though participant responses may differ based upon demographic characteristics, teaching discipline, years taught, and other factors, those factors will not be used to exclude TCU faculty who meet the established inclusion criteria from participating in the study. In fact, participants representing a wide range of demographics, subject areas, and teaching experience is sought to improve the diversity of the sample for this study.

Sampling Method

To secure interviews with the target population, the researcher will combine purposive and snowball sampling approaches. A purposive sampling approach will initially be employed to connect with potential interview participants who are known by

the researcher to be currently serving in a fulltime faculty position at a TCU. A snowball sampling approach will then be employed to expand the reach and diversity of the sample. Snowball sampling is made possible by a referral process (Parker et al., 2019); following the initial interview(s), the researcher will continue their study by reaching out to the referrals shared by the interview participants. As the process continues, the number of potential contacts builds—much like how a snowball grows in size with the accumulation of new snow. Even though snowball sampling has been criticized for "not producing samples that meet the criteria for random samples in the statistical sense" (Parker et al., 2019, p. 4), it continues to be applied as a valid and valuable qualitative method. Specifically, snowball sampling has been highlighted as an effective way for researchers to gain access to a target population (Naderifar et al; 2017). Snowball sampling has been employed in multiple studies spanning various fields and has served as a prominent qualitative method in numerous studies designed to explore experiences and perceptions (Karabatak & Alonoglu, 2021; Leighton et al., 2021; Tyson & Sauers, 2021).

Procedures

A phenomenological approach will be used to conduct this study. One way phenomenology is explained is as the study of "how we experience things" or "the meaning things have in our experience" (Smith, 2013). Relying upon first-hand, conscious experiences, phenomenological research seeks to understand the "essence" of an experience (Privitera & Ahlgrim-Delzell, 2019). The researcher will rely upon one-on-one interviews with TCU faculty to glean their first-person perspectives of their

experiences with FE. The interviews will be structured according to Bevan's (2014) method of phenomenological interviewing as illustrated in Figure 1.

Figure 1

Bevan's (2014) Structure of Phenomenological Interviewing

Phenomenological Attitude	Researcher Approach	Interview Structure	Method	Example Question
	Acceptance of Natural Attitude of Participants	Contextualization (Eliciting the Lifeworld in Natural Attitude)	Descriptive/Narrative Context Questions	"Tell me about becoming ill," or "Tell me how you came to be at the satellite unit."
Phenomenological Reduction (Epoché)	Reflexive Critical Dialogue With Self	Apprehending the Phenomenon (Modes of Appearing in Natural Attitude)	Descriptive and Structural Questions of Modes of Appearing	"Tell me about your typical day at the satellite unit,"or "Tell me what you do to get ready for dialysis."
	Active Listening	Clarifying the Phenomenon (Meaning Through Imaginative Variation)	Imaginative Variation: Varying of Structure Questions	"Describe how the unit experience would change if a doctor was present at all times."

Bevan's (2014) interviewing method includes three domains, all of which were informed by a number of practices—such as description, reflexive thinking, and active listening—previously applied by scholars known for their work in phenomenology. Taken together, these domains reflect the key phenomenological concept of reduction, or the researcher's attempt to recognize and set aside their own subjectivities in order to access and understand the phenomenon as experienced by the participant (Nicholls, 2019).

To apply Bevan's method to the current study, the researcher will begin the interview by asking questions designed to inform the "context and biography from which the experience gains meaning" (Bevan, 2014, p.139). These initial questions will focus on eliciting contextual details that will in turn lead to a better understanding of the

experience of focus. Once the context has been established, the researcher will employ descriptive questions that focus on the experience or phenomenon of most concern—in this case, the FE process. Focusing on descriptive questions will allow the researcher to work toward "apprehending the phenomenon" (Bevan, 2014), which can be understood as the researcher's attempt to see the phenomenon as experienced by the participant. The last phase in Bevan's (2014) method integrates "imaginative variation," an approach that involves the researcher posing "what if" or hypothetical questions to the participant. Employing imaginative variation can contribute to a clearer understanding of the participant's experience and the meaning they ascribe to it.

Interviews. The researcher will use semi-structured interviews to conduct this study. Semi-structured interviews were chosen because they are recommended for novice researchers, and more importantly, because they enable the participants to elaborate on their responses and are well-suited for phenomenological approaches (Stage & Manning, 2016). The use of semi-structured interviews will allow the researcher to begin with a set of pre-established interview questions while permitting follow-up questions tailored to the content of participant responses. As is common with semi-structured questions, the interview questions will be more open-ended early in the interview and become more focused later on in the interview as the core concepts of the phenomenon under exploration become clear (Stage & Manning, 2016).

Scholars have noted that when a set of common characteristics is shared between those involved in the interview process—in this case, the researcher and participant—it is easier to build rapport and establish trust (Stage & Manning, 2016). The initial interview

questions were designed to establish rapport between the researcher and participant by asking broad questions related to the role of a TCU faculty member in general. Because the researcher has also served as a TCU faculty member, beginning with this area will establish commonality between the two people involved in the interview process and potentially increase the level of comfort the participant feels in disclosing their experiences and perceptions regarding FE. (Please see Appendix B for the researcher's list of interview questions.)

The researcher intends to interview 8-10 TCU faculty members, with each participant representing a different TCU. Using a purposive and snowball sampling approach, the researcher will first send a query email to known full-time TCU faculty requesting their participation in the study. The initial email will contain a greeting explaining the purpose of the study and the researcher's contact information. If a TCU faculty member is willing to participate, they will be asked to contact the researcher via email or phone to discuss the study and interview process in more detail, confirm that they meet all inclusion criteria, review the informed consent letter, and set up a time to conduct the interview. Additionally, to consciously work to increase the diversity of the sample, the researcher will ask the potential participant to respond to the following demographic questions: How long have you been a faculty member at a TCU? In what subject area do you teach? How many times have you participated in the FE process? The researcher will document the potential participant's responses and use them to inform the selection of future interview participants.

If an interview is scheduled, the researcher will email the informed consent letter to the participant and ask them to sign and return it within three days. For any potential participants who agree to participate in an interview but do not return a signed informed consent letter, the researcher will send a follow-up email to thank them for their interest and remind them to return the signed inform consent so the interview can be scheduled.

Within the informed consent letter, the importance of keeping the participant's identity confidential will be emphasized. The informed consent will state that pseudonyms will be used in place of the participant's real name and that they will be allowed to choose their pseudonym if they desire. Once the researcher has received the signed informed consent letter, then the researcher will respond to the participant with an email confirming the date, time, and type of the interview.

Each interview is planned to last 30-45 minutes. The participant will be able to choose if they would like to conduct the interview via zoom or over the phone. All interviews will be audio recorded using the researcher's personal recording device. No video recordings will be taken. If zoom is used and the participant chooses to turn on their camera, the researcher will clarify that the zoom meeting will not be recorded using the screen record option on the zoom platform, but by using the researcher's audio recorder instead.

The researcher will follow a script to open each interview to ensure the researcher includes and shares all important information regarding the study and informed consent prior to beginning the interview. It should be noted that to better establish a relationship with each participant and establish a setting that is open to and stresses the importance of

dialogue, the researcher refers to the interview as a conversation rather than an interview in the script. (Please see Appendix A for a copy of the script the researcher will use to open each interview.) The researcher will begin the interview by thanking the participant for taking the time to visit with the researcher and participate in the study. Though the participant will have already been provided with an overview of the study by this point in the process, the researcher will again state the study's purpose before reviewing the informed consent that the participant had previously signed. The researcher will clarify that the participant's confidentiality is a priority throughout the research process and that a pseudonym will be used in place of their name. At this point, the researcher will ask the participant if they have a pseudonym they would like to use for the study. If the participant has not chosen a pseudonym, the researcher will ask for permission to assign one. The researcher will then proceed with the key elements of the informed consent, emphasizing that the participant understands their participation is voluntary and they can choose to stop the interview at any time with no repercussions. Lastly, the researcher will ask the participant if they have any questions or concerns before beginning the interview. If the participant has no questions or concerns, the researcher will begin the interview.

At the conclusion of the interview, the researcher will thank the participant for their time and their willingness to share their experiences. The researcher will then ask the participant if they know of any other TCU faculty members who might be interested in visiting with the researcher and sharing their experiences with FE. If the participant states that they know of other potential interview candidates, then the researcher will send the participant a follow-up email and ask them to forward it to other possible participants.

Risks and Benefits

The use of pseudonyms will be employed to protect the identity of those who participate in the qualitative interviews and minimize the possibility of their identity being determined by anyone besides the researcher. Given the content and approach of the study, there is minimal psychological or physical risk in participating. Furthermore, all participants will have read the study overview stating that participating in the study is completely voluntary and they are free to stop the interview at any time, minimizing the likelihood of discomfort resulting from participation.

Interview transcriptions and survey data will be stored on the researcher's personal laptop that is password protected and used only by the researcher. Data will be kept for three years and permanently deleted or destroyed after that time.

There are no immediate or direct benefits for participants; however, adding to the paucity of data currently available on TCUs would contribute to an increased awareness of TCUs, their faculty, and their processes. Furthermore, developing an understanding of how faculty at TCUs have experienced the FE process in addition to how they perceive it to contribute to their development could have practical implications. By identifying the FE practices perceived by faculty to facilitate their growth as professionals, TCU leaders could modify their FE processes to better support the ongoing professional development of their faculty, which could in-turn improve student success.

Trustworthiness & Authenticity

For a qualitative study to be perceived as rigorous and trustworthy, Lincoln & Guba (1985) originally posited that it must meet standards of credibility, transferability,

dependability, and confirmability, also known as the "four-dimensions criteria." To meet the trustworthiness criteria, researchers have commonly implemented a number of strategies such as triangulation, negative case analysis, member checking, thick description, and external audits. More recently, however, Lincoln and Guba (2007) have expanded their focus of the four-dimensions criteria to include and emphasize authenticity. Though some strategies consistent with the aforementioned trustworthiness criteria will be employed in this study, to better align this study's methodology with its goals—primarily to learn, understand, and share insight with others—attaining authenticity will be of primary concern.

Informed by a constructivist paradigm, Lincoln and Guba's authenticity criteria includes fairness, ontological authentication, educative authentication, catalytic authentication, and tactical authenticity (Johnson & Rosulova, 2017; Schwandt et al., 2007). Taken together, these aims are not separate from or opposite of those composing trustworthiness (member checking is a defining activity of fairness), but instead differ by how they account for the presence and influence of values, context, and interaction in contributing to a study's findings (Schwandt et al., 2007). To meet the authenticity criteria put forth by Lincoln and Guba, the researcher will actively seek to observe and negotiate contradictory beliefs among participants, consciously reflect upon and analyze the evolution of her own and the participants' beliefs regarding the topics discussed, work to ensure that increased understanding is shared in a way that could lead to action, and follow up with participants to assess any impacts resulting from their experience of participating in the study (Johnson & Rosulova, 2017).

Data Analysis

Interviews will be audio recorded and transcribed using a secure, third-party service. Through a process of content analysis, the researcher will read through each transcription to identify, organize, and categorize the data according to common meanings. Inductive analysis will then be employed to identify patterns and themes that occur across the content shared by participants.

The researcher will analyze the textual data through a process of thematic analysis. Initially, in accordance with the principles of phenomenological analysis, the researcher will build her familiarity with the transcribed content by reading and rereading through each interview in its entirety (Sundler et al., 2019). Once the researcher has become familiar with the whole of the text, she will then mark words and phrases that relate to the study's objective, taking notes in the margin that capture the "salient essence" of these spots (Privitera & Ahlgrim-Delzell, 2019, p. 592). Each spot will then be assigned a specific code which will facilitate the identification of patterns and "meaning units" or themes (Creswell, 2014, p. 193). Following the identification of meaning units, the researcher will produce a textual and structural description of what happened and how it was experienced, two pieces that the researcher will ultimately combine to describe the "essence" of the phenomenon.

Limitations of the Proposed Study

Timing presents a potential limitation for this study. The researcher plans to conduct interviews in the Fall semester of 2021; depending on the FE processes of individual TCUs, some TCU faculty will not have experienced any practices related to

the FE process since the end of the previous spring semester. Furthermore, FE processes and practices during the 2020-2021 academic year could have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. Considering this research study is not focused on how TCUs altered their FE processes in response to the pandemic, the researcher will need to be conscious of how the interview questions are worded and emphasize that the experiences from the past year might not be representative of what the faculty had experienced in years prior.

Contribution to Practice/Scholarship

This study will add to the paucity of published research that currently exists about the FE process at TCUs. To gain an understanding of how TCU faculty have experienced the FE process in addition to the types of practices they perceive to contribute to their PD could influence the approach, design, and implementation of FE at TCUs moving forward.

Target Journal

The target journal for this study is the *Tribal College Journal of American Indian Higher Education*, or *TCJ*. *TCJ* is a product of AIHEC and, as such, includes an authorship and readership that spans all 37 TCUs.

Rationale for Choice

The *TCJ* is the only journal with a dedicated focus on higher education and the Native American population. Furthermore, because the *TCJ* is produced by AIHEC, the articles it includes are produced from and connected to a TCU audience. Given the focus of my study, it would have the most impact if read by those working within TCUs.

Author Submission Guidelines

The author submission guidelines can be found at the following website:

https://tribalcollegejournal.org/writers-guidelines/

References

- Adams, D.W. (1995). Education for extinction: American Indians and the boarding school experience, 1875-1928. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas.
- Al-Asfour, A., & Young, S. (2017). Development needs and career advancement at Tribal colleges and universities. *The Journal of Faculty Development*, 21(1), 1-8.
- Alumni of Tribal Colleges and Universities Better Their Communities. (2019). *Gallup and American Indian College Fund*. https://collegefund.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Gallup Report Final 8-1-192.pdf
- American Indian College Fund. (2018, June 4). *Place-based learning as a framework for building Native student success*. https://collegefund.org/blog/place-based-learning-framework-building-native-student-success/
- American Indian College Fund. (2019). *Alumni of Tribal Colleges and Universities better*their communities. https://collegefund.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/Gallup Report Final 8-1-192.pdf
- American Indian College Fund. (2021). About us. https://collegefund.org/about-us/
- American Indian Higher Education Consortium. (2021). *Who we are*. http://www.aihec.org/who-we-are/index.htm
- American Indian Higher Education Consortium. (2021). *Tribal Colleges and Universities: Advancing Native students—Advancing Native nations: Advancing our nation*. http://aihec.org/what-we-do/docs/FY22/AIHEC_LegislativePriorities

 Brochure FY2022.Feb.pdf

- Antoine, N. (2013). Exploring tribal college and university (TCU) faculty collegiality (Doctoral dissertation). https://aura.antioch.edu/etds/66/
- Arizona State University. (28, March 2014). Scholar to discuss moving beyond the asterisk for American Indian students. https://news.asu.edu/content/scholar-discuss-moving-beyond-asterisk-american-indian-students
- Arreola, R. A., (1999). Issues in developing a faculty evaluation system. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 53(1), 56-63.
- Austin, D. (2021). Leadership lapse: Laundering systemic bias through student evaluations. *Villanova Law Review, 65*, 995-1009. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3550086
- Benton, S. L., & Young, S. (2018). Best practices in the evaluation of teaching. *IDEA*Center.
- Berk, R. (2018). Berk's law: Start spreading the news—use multiple sources of evidence to evaluate teaching. *Journal of Faculty Development*, *32*(1), 73-81.
- Bevan, M. (2014). A method of phenomenological interviewing. *Qualitative Health**Research, 24(1), 136-144. DOI: 10.1177/1049732313519710
- Blair, C. & Raver, C. (2016). Poverty, stress, and brain development: New directions for prevention and intervention. *Academic Pediatrics*, 16(3), 30-36.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.01.010
- Boring, A. (2017). Gender biases in student evaluations of teaching. *Journal of Public Economics*, 145, 27-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2016.11.006

- Brayboy, B. & Tsianina Lomawaima, K. (2018). Why don't more Indians do better in school? The battle between U.S. schooling & American Indian/Alaska Native education. *Daedalus*, 147(2), 82-94. https://doi.org/10.1162/DAED a 00492
- Brickman P, Gormally C, Martella A.M. (2016). Making the grade: Using instructional feedback and evaluation to inspire evidence-based teaching. CBE—*Life Science Education*, *15*(4), 1-14. DOI: 10.1187/cbe.15-12-0249. PMID: 27909025; PMCID: PMC5132372.
- Brown, L. (2017). *Native American transfer students from tribal institutions in Montana* (Order No. 10616718). [Doctoral dissertation, Indiana State University]. ProQuest Central.
- Bryan, R. (2019). The influence of tribal colleges and universities on Native American student persistence. *New Directions for Student Services, 1*(167), 49-62. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ss.20320
- Bunkowski, L., & Shelton, K. (2019). Mission, vision, and core values through online education: A case study on Tribal college leadership. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 20(4), 1-26.
- Butler, K. & Al-Asfour, A. (2018). Factors that influence the persistence of Native

 American students at tribal colleges and universities. *Tribal College and University Research Journal*, 3(1), 42-57.
- Cadez, S., Dimovsky, V., & Groff, M. Z. (2015). Research, teaching, and performance evaluation in academia, the salience of quality. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(8), 1455-1473. doi/pdf/10.1080/03075079.2015.1104659?needAccess=true

- Carmack, H. & LeFebvre, L. (2019) "Walking on eggshells": traversing the emotional and meaning making processes surrounding hurtful course valuations. *Communication Education*, 68(3), 350-370. DOI: 10.1080/03634523.2019.1608366
- Carney, C.M. (2021). Native American higher education in the United States. *Harvard Educational Review*. https://www.hepg.org/her-home/issues/harvard-educational-review-volume-70-issue-2/herbooknote/native-american-higher-education-in-the-united-sta
- Center for Community College Student Engagement. (2019). *Preserving culture and planning for the future: An exploration of student experiences at Tribal colleges*.
- Channing, J. (2017) Faculty evaluations: Contentious bothers or important tools for faculty growth? *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(11), 757-760. DOI: 10.1080/10668926.2016.1241197
- Charbonneau-Dahlen, B., Lowe, J., & Morris, L. (2016). Giving voice to historical trauma through storytelling: The impact of boarding school experience on American Indians. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 25*(6), 598-617. DOI: 10.1080/10926771.2016.1157843
- Collins, M. (2018). *Native water on arid lands: An evaluation of the tribal colleges*faculty-faculty research partnerships. Desert Research Institute.

 https://nativewaters-aridlands.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06

 /FFRPReport_April2018.pdf

- Creswell, J. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Daumiller, M., Stupnisky, R & Janke, S. (2020). Motivation of higher education faculty:

 Theoretical approaches, empirical evidence, and future directions. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 99, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer
 .2019.101502
- Debroy, A., Ingole, A., & Mudey, A. (2019). Teachers' perceptions on student evaluation of teaching as a tool for faculty development and quality assurance in medical education. *Journal of education and health promotion, 8*(218). https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_47_19
- Deci, E. & Ryan, R. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self determination in human* behavior. New York: Plenum.
- DeCosta, M., Bergquist, E., Holbeck, R., & Greenberger, S. (2016). A desire for growth:

 Online full-time faculty's perceptions of evaluation processes. *Journal of Educators Online*, *13*(2), 19–52. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/
 10.9743/JEO.2016.2.6https://cccse.org/sites/default/files/Tribal Colleges.pdf
- DeJong, D. H. (2007). "Unless They Are Kept Alive": Federal Indian schools and student health, 1878-1918. *American Indian Quarterly, 31*(2), 256–282. https://doiorg.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.1353/aiq.2007.0022
- DeLong, L., Monette, G., & Ozaki, C. C. (2016). Nurturing student success in Tribal colleges. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2016*(174), 65-74. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20203

- Deloria, P., Tsianina Lomawaima, K., Brayboy, B., Trahant, M., Ghiglione, L., Medin,
 D., & Blackhawk, N. (2018). Unfolding futures: Indigenous ways of knowing for
 the twenty-first century. *Daedalus, The Journal of the American Academy of Arts*and Sciences, 147(2), 6-16. doi:10.1162/DAED a 00485
- Deshpande, S., Chari, S., Radke, U., & Karemore, T. (2019). Evaluation of the educator's portfolio as a tool for self-reflection: Faculty perceptions. *Education for Health* 32(2), 75–78. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.4103/efh.EfH_277_17
- Dewees, S. & Marks, B. (2017). *Twice invisible: Understanding rural Native America*.

 First Nations Development Institute. https://www.usetinc.org/wp-content/uploads/bvenuti/WWS/2017/May%202017/May%208/Twice%20Invisible%20-%20Research%20Note.pdf
- Donalli-Sallee, E. & Autry, D. (2016). Supporting online teaching effectiveness at scale:

 Achieving efficiency and effectiveness through peer review. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(3). DOI: 10.9743/jeo.2018.15.3.13
- Droll, N. (2020). More than an education: Three college graduates blaze paths to law school. *Tribal College Journal of American Indian Higher Education*, *32*(1), https://tribalcollegejournal.org/more-than-an-education-three-tribal-collegegraduates-blaze-paths-to-law-school/
- Espinosa, L., Kelchen, R., & Taylor, M. (2018). *Minority serving institutions as engines of upward mobility*. American Council on Education: Center for Policy Research

- and Strategy. https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/MSIs-as-Engines-of-Upward-Mobility.pdf
- Exec. Order No. 13592, 3 C.F.R. (December 2, 2011).
- Fayez, A., Ahmed, A., Darwish, H., El Khashab, H., Bougatfa, R., Shawky, T., & El Fouhil, A. (2019). A review of the methods in the evaluation of faculty performance. *International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences*, *6*(8), 32-38. https://doi.org/10.21833/ijaas.2019.08.005
- Fetters, M. D., Curry, L. A., & Creswell, J. W. (2013). Achieving integration in mixed methods designs-principles and practices. *Health Services Research*, *48*(6 Pt 2), 2134–2156. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12117
- Fletcher, J. (2018). Peer observation of teaching: A practice tool in higher education. *Journal of Faculty Development, 32*(1), 51-64.
- Fong, C. J., Alejandro, A. J., Krou, M. R., Segovia, J., & Johnston-Ashton, K. (2019).
 Ya'at'eeh: Race-reimaged belongingness factors, academic outcomes, and goal pursuits among Indigenous community college students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 59. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101805
- Ghaljaie, F., Naderifar, M. & Goli, H. (2017). Snowball sampling: A purposeful method of sampling in qualitative research. *Strides in Development of Medical Education*, *14*(3). https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/

- Gillman, R., Hensel, N., Salomon, D., & Wilhite, S. (2018). *Refining the paradigm:*Holistic evaluation of faculty to support faculty and student learning. The New

 American Colleges and Universities. https://nacu.edu/wp
 content/uploads/2020/10/NACU_REFINING-THE-PARADIGM_READER.pdf
- Gyurko, J., MacCormack, P., Bless, M., & Jodl, J. (2016). Why colleges and universities need to invest in quality teaching more than ever. The Association of College and University Educators. https://acue.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ACUE-White-Paper1.pdf
- Higher Learning Commission. (2020). *HLC Policy*. https://www.hlcommission.org/ Policies/criteria-and-core-components.html
- Johnson, S. & Rasulova, S. (2017). Qualitative research and the evaluation of development impact: incorporating authenticity into the assessment of rigour.

 *Journal of Development Effectiveness, 9(2). 263-276. https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2017.1306577
- Karabatak, S., & Alanoğlu, M. (2021). Investigation of university students' in-class smartphones usage with association rules. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 17(2), 55–68. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.29329/ijpe.2020.332.4
- Keng, S.H. (2020). Gender bias and statistical discrimination against female instructors in student evaluations of teaching. *Labour Economics*, *66*. DOI: 10.1016/j.labeco. 2020.101889

- Kim, H.B., Myung, S.J., Yu, H.G., Chang, J.Y., & Shin, C.S. (2016). Influences of faculty evaluating system on educational performance of medical school faculty. Korean Journal of Medical Education, 28(3), 289–294. https://doiorg.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.3946/kjme.2016.34
- LaFrance, J. & Nichols, R. (2009). *Indigenous evaluation framework: Telling our story in our place and time*. American Indian Higher Education Consortium.

 https://portalcentral.aihec.org/indigeval/lists/indigenousevaluationfrmwork/allitems.aspx
- LaFrance, J., & Nichols, R. (2010). Reframing evaluation: Defining an Indigenous evaluation framework. *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 23(2), 13-31.
- Lakin, A. (2016). Effective faculty evaluation at the teaching-centered university:

 Building a fair and authentic portfolio of faculty work. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(6), 976-988. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-03-2015-0030
- Lambert, L. (2014). Research for Indigenous survival: Indigenous research methodologies in the behavioral sciences. Salish Kootenai College Press.
- Leighton, K., Kardong-Edgren, S., Schneidereith, T., & Foisy-Doll, C. (2021). Using social media and snowball sampling as an alternative recruitment strategy for research. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *55*, 37–42. https://doiorg.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.03.006

- LeVan, D. (2020). The development of a portfolio for academic promotion and tenure for occupational therapy educators. *The Open Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 8(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1749
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E.G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.
- Lyde, A. R., Grieshaber, D. C., & Byrns, G. (2016). Faculty teaching performance:

 Perceptions of a multi-source method for evaluation (MME). *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *16*(3), 82–94.
- Mangum, E. (2017). Teaching and student success: ACUE makes the link. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 49(5), 17-25. DOI:10.1080/00091383.

 2017.1366806
- Marroquin, C. (2019). Tribal colleges and universities: A testament of resiliency and nation building. *Center for Minority Serving Institutions*. https://cmsi.gse.
 rutgers.edu/sites/ default/files/TCUs.pdf
- Marshall, K. (2017). The truth about teacher evaluation. *American School Board Journal*, 204(2).
- Matthews, B. (2018). *The experiences of teaching portfolio preparation and maintenance by faculty* (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Alberta.
- McClellan, G. S., Tippeconnic Fox, M. J., & Lowe, S. C. (2005). Where we have been: A history of Native American higher education. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2005(109), 7–15.
- Native American Rights Fund (n.d.). *Boarding school healing*. https://www.narf.org/
 cases/ boarding-school-healing/

- National Congress of American Indians. (2021). *Census*. https://www.ncai.org/policy-issues/economic-development-commerce/census
- National Indian Child Welfare Organization. (2021). *About ICWA*. https://www.nicwa
 .org /about-icwa/
- Navidinia, H. (2021). EFL teachers as lifelong learners: Rethinking the link between teacher evaluation and in-service professional development. *International Journal of Language Studies*, *15*(3), 107-126.
- Nelson, C. (2017). Shifting from data invisibility toward data usage: Research and data collection at Tribal colleges and universities. American Council on Education. https://www.higheredtoday.org/2017/11/20/moving-away-data-invisibility-tribal-colleges-universities/
- Nelson, C. & Frye, J. (2016). *Tribal college and university funding: Tribal sovereignty at the intersection of federal, state, and local funding*. American Council on Education. https://www.luminafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/tribal-college-and-university-funding.pdf
- Newton, G., Poung, K., Laila, A., Bye, Z., Bettger, W., Cottenie, K., Dawson, J., Graether, S. P., Jacobs, S., Murrant, C., & Zettel, J. (2019). Perception of biology instructors on using student evaluations to inform their teaching. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 8(1), 133–147.
- New England Commission of Higher Education. (2021). *Standards for Accreditation*. https://www.neche.org/resources/standards-for-accreditation

- Ngoh, N. (2018). Factors that impact the evaluation of teacher evaluation of teacher effectiveness for reappointment, tenure and promotion. *Journal for the Advancement of Educational Research International*, *12*(1), 15-24. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1209441.pdf
- Nicholls, C. (2019). Innovating the craft of phenomenological research methods through mindfulness. *Methodological Innovations, May-August*, 2019. 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799119840977
- Niyivuga, B., Otara, A., & Tuyishime, D. (2019). Monitoring and evaluation practices and academic staff motivation: Implications in higher education within Rwandan context. *SAGE Open*, *9*(1). 1-9.
- Opidee, I. (2018). Σ valuation Σ quations. *University Business*, 21(6), 36–39.
- Oskineegish, M. (2019). The role of self-reflection in an Indigenous education course for teacher candidates. *Education*, 25(1), 77-95.
- Pak, K., Desimone, L., & Parsons, A. (2020). An integrative approach to professional development to support college- and career-readiness standards. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 28(111), 1-23.
- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball Sampling. In P. Atkinson, S.

 Delamont, A. Cernat, J.W. Sakshaug, & R.A. Williams (Eds.), *SAGE Research Methods Foundations*. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781526421036831710
- Pennamon, T. (2018, November). Tribal colleges and Native organizations are 'growing their own' faculty. *Diverse: Issues in Higher Education*. https://diverseeducation.com/article/131954/

- Piccioli, M. (2019). Educational research and mixed methods: Research designs, application perspectives, and food for thought. *Studi Sulla Formazione*, *22*(2), 423–438. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.13128/ssf-10815
- Podsiad, M. (2020). Faculty acceptance of the peer assessment collaboration evaluation tool: A quantitative study. *Education Technology Research and Development*, 68, 1381-1407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09742-z
- Porche, M.V., Costello, D.M. & Rosen-Reynoso, M. (2016). Adverse family experiences, child mental health, and educational outcomes for a national sample of students. School Mental Health 8, 44–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9174-3
- Postsecondary National Policy Institute. (2020). *Tribal colleges and universities*.

 https://pnpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/PNPI_TribalCollegesAnd
 <a href="https://pnpi.org/wp-content
- Privitera, G. & Ahlgrim-Delzell, L. (2019). *Research methods for education*. Sage Publications.
- Running Bear, U., Croy, C. D., Kaufman, C. E., Thayer, Z. M., Manson, S. M. (2018).

 The relationship of five boarding school experiences and physical health status among Northern Plains Tribes. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation, 27*(1), 153–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-017-1742-y\
- Rigler, K., Cook-Benjamin, L., Wieland, R., & Tholstrup, C. (2016). The inclusion of self-assessment in merit evaluation. *Cogent Education*, *3*(1), 1-12.

- Ryan, R. & Deci, E. (2000). Self determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and wellbeing. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 68-78. https://selfdeterminationtheory.org/SDT/documents/2000 RyanDeci SDT.pdf
- Ryan, R. & Deci, E. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions.

 *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 61, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016

 /j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Savard, I., & Mizoguchi, R. (2019). Context or culture: What is the difference? *Research* and *Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning*, 14(23), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41039-019-0112-5
- Schimanski, L. A., & Alperin, J. P. (2018). The evaluation of scholarship in academic promotion and tenure processes: Past, present, and future. *F1000Research*, 7(1605). https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.16493.1
- Schwandt, T.A., Lincoln, Y.S., & Guba, E.G. (2007). Judging interpretations: But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Evaluation*, *114*, 11-25.
- Scott, J., Yap, K., Bunch, K., Haarhoff, B., Perry, H., & Bennett-Levy, J. (2021). Should personal practice be part of cognitive behaviour therapy training? Results from two self-practice/self-reflection cohort control pilot studies. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *28*(1), 150–158. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10. 1002/cpp.2497

- Shotton, H. J., Low, S. C., & Waterman, S. J. (2013). *Beyond the asterisk: Understanding Native students in higher education*. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.
- Shreffler, M., Shreffler, J., & Murfree, J. (2019). Barriers to advancement of female faculty in higher education: An examination of student evaluations of teaching, work-family conflict, and perceived organizational support. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 19(8), 72-85.
- Shreve, B. (14, April 2020). Coping with the contagion: How Tribal Colleges are responding to Covid-19. *Tribal College Journal of American Indian Higher Education*. https://tribalcollegejournal.org/coping-with-the-contagion-how-tribal-colleges-are-responding-to-covid-19-a-special-report/
- Slade, D., Martin, A., & Watson, G.D. (2020). Practitioner auto-ethnography: Self-reflection for discovery and deeper understanding. *Curriculum Studies in Health and Physical Education*, 11(4), 1-13.
- Smith, D. (2013). Phenomenology. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/phenomenology/
- Song, W. (2016). American Indian voice: A National perspective. In A. Long (Ed.), Overcoming educational racism in the community college. Stylus.
- Stage, F. & Manning, K. (2016). Research in the college context: Approaches and methods (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Strommer, G., & Kickingbird, K. (2015). Indian self-determination: Four decades of extraordinary success. *Human Rights*, 40(4), 2–6. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26408473

- Stull, G., Spyridakis, D., Gasman, M., Samayoa, A., & Booker, Y. (2015). Redefining success: how Tribal colleges and universities build nations, strengthen sovereignty, and persevere through challenges. *Center for Minority Serving Institutions*. https://repository. upenn.edu/cgi/view content .cgi?article= 1386&context=gse_pubs
- Stupnisky, R.H., Hall, N.C., & Pekrun, R. (2019). The emotions of pretenure faculty: Implications for teaching and research success. *The Review of Higher Education* 42(4), 1489-1526. doi:10.1353/rhe.2019.0073.
- Sundler, A., Lindberg, E., Nilsson, C., & Palmer, N. (2019). Qualitative thematic analysis based on descriptive phenomenology. *Nursing Open, 6*(3), 733-739. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.275
- Szűcs, I. Z. (2018). Teacher trainers' self-reflection and self-evaluation. *Acta Technologica Dubnicae*, 8(2), 9–23. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.2478/atd-2018-0008
- Theall, M. (2017). MVP and faculty evaluation. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning, 2017*(152), 91–98. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville. edu/10.1002/tl.20271
- Thomas, J., Graham, C., & Pina, A. (2018). Current practices of online instructor evaluation in higher education. *Online Journal of Distance Learning*Administration, 21(2).

- Tursini, U. (2017). Exploring changes in teachers' instructional practice throughsSelf-evaluation as a meditational activity: A case study. *Journal of Language Teaching*& Research, 8(3), 556–564.
- Tyson, M. M., & Sauers, N. J. (2021). School leaders' adoption and implementation of artificial intelligence. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *59*(3), 271–285. https://doi-org.proxy.library.maryville.edu/10.1108/JEA-10-2020-0221
- U.S. Department of the Interior. (2021). *Minority Serving Institutions Program*. https://www.doi.gov/pmb/eeo/doi-minority-serving-institutions-program
- Vanderbilt University. (2021). *Teaching portfolios*. https://cft.vanderbilt.edu/guides-sub-pages/teaching-portfolios/
- Voorhees, R. A. (2004). Tribal college faculty survey: Despite lower pay, faculty tend to be content, altruistic, ambitious. *Tribal College Journal of American Indian*Higher Education, 15(3), 20–21.
- Wieman, C. (2015). A better way to evaluate undergraduate teaching. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 47(1), 6-15. DOI: 10.1080/00091383.2015.996077
- Williams, K., & Hebert, D. (2020). Teacher evaluation systems: A literature review on issues and impact. *Research Issues in Contemporary Education*, 5(1), 42-50.
- Willmott, K. E., Sands, T. L., Raucci, M., and Waterman, S. J. (2016). Native American college students: A group forgotten. *Journal of Critical Scholarship on Higher Education and Student Affairs*, 2(1) https://ecommons.luc.edu/jcshesa/vol2/iss1/7

Appendix A

Interview Script

Hello _____. Thank you for taking the time to visit with me today. My name is Kayla Alkire-Stewart and I'm a graduate student in the Higher Education Leadership Program at Maryville University. The conversation we'll be having is part of my dissertation that I'm working on for the Program. As noted in the previous email, the purpose of this study is to explore how TCU faculty have experienced the faculty evaluation (FE) process at their institutions, and to better understand what FE practices TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their professional development as instructors.

We've scheduled 30-45 minutes for our discussion, but if at any time you would like to stop, please feel free to let me know. I will be recording the audio from our conversation, but no video will be recorded. Your identity will remain confidential, and a pseudonym will be used in place of your real name. Would you like to choose your pseudonym? If yes: ___pseudonym here____, great. If no: Would it be okay if I assign one after our conversation? Great.

At this time, I would like to remind you about your written consent to participate in this study and that you have received a signed copy of the informed consent letter, certifying that we agree to participate in this study. Remember that your participation is voluntary, and that if you would like to discontinue the conversation, you are free to do so at any time.

Do you have any questions or concerns before we begin our conversation?

Appendix B

Interview Questions

"Contextualization" questions:

- Can you tell me about how you came to be a faculty member at a TCU?
- How long have you worked at your current TCU?
- In which department do you teach?
- How big of a role does teaching play in your current position? (How many classes do you teach? How much time do you spend on teaching?)

Questions related to Faculty Evaluation ("apprehending the phenomenon"):

- When you think of faculty evaluation at your TCU, what comes to mind?
 - o follow-up question
- What does the faculty evaluation process look like at your TCU?
 - o How are faculty evaluated (What methods and tools are used?)
 - o How often are faculty evaluated?
- How does the faculty evaluation process at your TCU help you improve as an instructor?
 - follow-up question
- What parts of the faculty evaluation process do you perceive as helpful?
 - o follow-up question (Can you describe what ___ looks like?)
- What parts of the faculty evaluation process do you perceive as least helpful?
 - o follow-up question (Can you describe what ____ looks like?)
- How invested are you in participating in the faculty evaluation process at your TCU?

Questions that allow for "imaginative variation":

- What are some changes that could be made to the faculty evaluation process at your TCU to improve it?
- If ___ were implemented, how do you think that would impact the FE process?
- If ___ was not a part of the FE process, how do you think that would impact the FE process?

Abstract

Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) play an integral role in the advancement of Native Americans, yet research that focuses on TCUs and their students or faculty is limited. Considering the positive impact TCU faculty have on student success, it is worthwhile to explore how these faculty are supported in their work, primarily in their work as instructors. This qualitative phenomenological study explored TCU faculty perceptions of their institution's faculty evaluation (FE) process with the intent of identifying FE practices faculty perceive to contribute to their development as instructors. The researchers conducted seven interviews with faculty representing five different TCUs across the Midwest. Five themes emerged from the data:

- 1. The FE process is important.
- 2. Discontinuity exists between FE policy and practice.
- 3. Faculty appreciate and desire qualitative feedback.
- 4. Faculty prefer ongoing opportunities for evaluation.
- 5. The FE process and associated practices should be informed by faculty input.

The findings illustrate that TCU faculty desire to grow in their roles as instructors, and they want to have a voice in the practices that are intended to support their development. For TCU leadership, these findings suggest a collaborative approach to the creation and implementation of FE could improve faculty perceptions of the process.

Keywords: Tribal College and University (TCU), Tribal College and University faculty, faculty evaluation, faculty development, self-determination theory (SDT), Indigenous Evaluation Framework

Situating the Primary Researcher

As an enrolled Tribal member and former nontraditional student who experienced the power of higher education, I wanted to work in a place and position where my personal and professional experience could be of most benefit, a desire that led me to my role as a TCU faculty member. Over the past decade, I have served in both faculty and staff roles at two different TCUs, and I have seen the integral space they fulfill. As institutions, TCUs work with limited resources to advance both cultural and academic missions that benefit the communities in which they serve. Individuals who choose to work at TCUs do so because they believe in this mission and want to contribute in the best way they can. For TCU faculty, being effective means being knowledgeable about subject matter, skilled in instructional methods, and aware, accepting, and willing to integrate the historical context and culture of where they perform their work; in other words, TCU faculty must not only have adept content knowledge, but also be able to take a place-based approach in attempts to convey that knowledge. My chosen area of focus for this study was influenced by my appreciation of TCUs and their faculty who continuously strive to grow in their capacity to teach and support their students.

Introduction

Though faculty evaluation continues to evolve, conversations about its purpose and how it could best be designed to meet that purpose are ongoing (Carmack & LeFebvre, 2019; Gillman et al., 2018; Opidee, 2018). Recent research has advocated for a handful of guidelines regarding best practices in the evaluation of faculty (Benton & Young, 2018; Lyde et al., 2016), while acknowledging that the process should be tailored

to meet the needs of individual higher education institutions, disciplines, and delivery models (DeCosta et al., 2016; Thomas, 2018). In accordance with Indigenous research methodologies and findings that support the design of context-specific or place-based FE processes, this study is intended to contribute to an area that has yet to be studied: faculty evaluation at Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs).

The Importance of TCUs

Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs) are important and unique higher education institutions, as captured by their missions that articulate both academic and cultural goals. Of the 37 TCUs in the United States, all were chartered by their own Tribal government or the federal government to meet the needs of their local communities; as such, Tribal culture and language are foundational components of their institutional outcomes (American Indian Higher Education Consortium [AIHEC], 2021; Center for Community College Student Engagement [CCCSE], 2019; Marroquin, 2018). Even though the persistence, retention, and graduation rates for students attending TCUs tend to be lower than those of other institution types (Stull et al., 2015), focusing only on these traditional measures of academic success without contextualizing them portrays TCUs as ineffective institutions. Furthermore, the benefits TCUs provide to their communities cannot be captured by looking at student data alone.

The success of TCUs is founded on their dedication to meet the needs of their students and communities in very tangible ways, primarily by being accessible both geographically and financially (Song, 2016). Multiple publications have noted that without TCUs, many of those living in some of the poorest and most rural areas in the

United States would have no other opportunity to pursue postsecondary education (Espinosa et al., 2018; Exec. Order No. 13592, 2011; Postsecondary National Policy Institute [PNPI], 2019). In addition to their location, TCUs have an open-door policy, meaning regardless of previous academic achievement, students who submit complete application packages will be accepted (DeLong et al., 2016). Furthermore, TCUs support their students and wider communities by offering services such as childcare, food banks, transportation, and GED tutoring and testing (Stull et al., 2015).

Even while operating in a state of chronic under-funding (Nelson & Frye, 2016), TCUs have proven themselves as integral to the advancement of Native Americans (AIHEC, 2020). In fact, in a study investigating the relationship between previous TCU attendance and eventual mainstream graduation rates, Bryan (2019) found that Native American students who attended a TCU before transferring to a mainstream institution were more likely to graduate with their bachelor's degree than those who had no prior TCU affiliation. Brown's (2017) analysis of graduation rates for Native American students in Montana resulted in similar findings, illustrating that Native American TCU transfer students were nearly twice as likely to graduate as their counterparts who began at mainstream institutions. Given the aforementioned data, continuing to find ways to support TCU faculty and the work they do is necessary to improve outcomes for the students they serve.

TCU Faculty

Very little published research exists on TCU faculty. In fact, the American Indian College Fund (the College Fund) administered both the first and last cohesive survey of

TCU faculty in 2003 (Voorhees, 2004). Though the data on TCU faculty is scarce, multiple publications have asserted that TCU faculty often fulfill various support roles in addition to teaching, serving on committees, and performing other advisory duties (Antoine, 2013; Bryan, 2019). As illustrated by one TCU faculty member who compared their work expectations to that of the Duracell bunny, to describe TCU faculty as "busy" is an understatement (Antoine, 2013). From what has been written about faculty at TCUs, their experiences appear to support Gonzales and Ayers's (2018) findings that community college faculty are "under-supported and overstretched" (p. 456).

The demands TCU faculty face should not be ignored. Given the positive relationship between faculty-student interaction and student success in TCUs and other higher education environments (Al-Asfour et al., 2020; Lancaster & Lundberg, 2019), it is important for institutional leaders to be cognizant of faculty needs. Considering the assortment of roles TCU faculty fulfill in addition to the unique environments in which they work, early and ongoing instructional support is necessary. As illustrated by the few published studies that have addressed TCU faculty development, both faculty and administrators alike consider opportunities for growth or professional development (PD) an essential component of faculty success (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017; Bunkowski & Shelton, 2019). When viewed as a tool to help facilitate faculty development, faculty evaluation (FE) emerges as an important area of focus.

Faculty Evaluation

In the book *Grading the College: A History of Evaluating Teaching and Learning*, Gelber (2020) surmised that the evaluation of teaching and learning at a post-

secondary level began in the 1920s, and that for a period of approximately fifty years, supervisor and student evaluations were the most used types of FE across institutions. Though these two types of evaluations have been used for decades, they are not infallible in their measurement of faculty performance, including the quality of teaching. Many scholars have agreed that effectively evaluating faculty performance is a difficult endeavor (Benton & Young, 2018; Wieman, 2015) and has never been flawless (Opidee, 2018). Furthermore, not to be overlooked in a discussion of FE is the ongoing issue of how the data produced as part of the FE process can be used to help faculty enhance their skills and more effectively contribute to student learning (Benton & Young, 2018).

The Current Context

Recently, scholars interested in FE have increasingly called for approaches focused on the improvement of faculty performance (Lutz et al., 2018; Opidee, 2018; Theall, 2017; Weiman, 2019). While research productivity is a common marker of faculty performance at mainstream institutions (Schimanski & Alperin, 2018), the primary role of faculty employed at community colleges and TCUs is teaching.

Considering studies have shown that focusing on service, research productivity, or content knowledge does not stand in for good teaching (Cadez et al., 2015; Weiman, 2015), the evaluation of teaching needs to be considered a worthy endeavor in itself and designed as such (Wieman, 2015). With the acknowledgement that improved teaching quality leads to more desirable student outcomes that in turn facilitate continued institutional wellbeing (Mangum, 2017), it is easy to see why a college or university

would find it worthwhile to design and implement an FE process informed by the goal of continued teaching improvement.

Multiple Measures

Even though there is no "one size fits all" approach to FE, the consensus among scholars is that its utmost priority should be to improve student learning (ASCCC, 2013; Benton & Young, 2018; Lutz et al., 2018), an outcome in alignment with an Indigenous worldview emphasizing personal growth as a means to contribute more significantly to the greater community (LaFrance et al., 2012). With the improvement of student learning as the goal, the focus of FE lands heavily on the improvement of faculty teaching.

To reach the most accurate conclusions about a teacher's performance, current research advocates for the use of multiple measures, with student, peer, self, and supervisor assessments being widely employed (Berk, 2018; DeCosta et al., 2016). Additionally, educator or teacher portfolios have been implemented more recently and often include evidence from a combination of the four primary measures mentioned above (LeVan, 2020). Ensuring data are being gathered from multiple sources allows the evaluation to be both thorough and fair, two qualities that help prevent faculty from losing trust in a process that relies solely on one approach (Benton & Young, 2018). Research has shown that the type of measure in addition to how the measure is designed and implemented influences how faculty perceive its usefulness (Williams & Hebert, 2020).

The Importance of Studying Faculty Perceptions

In conjunction with the measures and practices used to evaluate faculty, facilitating an effective FE process relies upon faculty involvement during both the creation and implementation stages (Fayez et al., 2019), a position supported by the AAUP's Statement on Teaching Evaluation (AAUP, 2015). Inviting faculty to contribute to the creation and design of the FE process increases their perception of its worth; once faculty are on board, they are apt to participate willingly as long as they continue to see the process as valuable (Fayez et al., 2019), or as research has shown, constructive (Benton & Young, 2018; Opidee, 2018; Theall, 2017). It is no surprise that the opportunity to receive constructive feedback weighs heavily on faculty perceptions of evaluation practices; faculty—and in this case, TCU faculty in particular—want to be good at what they do, and constructive feedback helps them not only fulfill their required duties but continuously improve and excel in their roles (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017; Bunkowski & Shelton, 2019). In essence, faculty want to grow, and the reception of quality feedback can help them do so more effectively (Nivivuga et al., 2019). An indepth review of the literature reveals, however, that studies have not yet investigated the specifics underlying the design, implementation, and effectiveness of FE, particularly as these factors pertain to TCUs.

Self Determination Theory and an Indigenous Evaluation Framework

Both self-determination theory (SDT) and the Indigenous Evaluation Framework provide lenses underscoring the importance of continued development. Primary tenets of SDT are that people are inherently motivated to develop and can best do so in a

supportive environment (Ryan & Deci, 2000). When individuals *view* an act as one that supports their ability to develop, they will be more motivated to engage with it, which results in higher levels of participation and greater performance (Ryan & Deci, 2020). By acknowledging the relationship between perception and motivation, designing the FE process to be viewed positively by faculty becomes imperative to its ability to function effectively. If administrators want the FE process to give them accurate results of how well their faculty are performing, then they will need the faculty to fully engage in the process. For faculty to fully engage, they will need to view the process as worthwhile.

The Indigenous Evaluation Framework also recognizes the importance of growth and learning, specifically the importance of focusing on the use of evaluation to "better understand and improve programs" (AIHEC, 2009, p. 108). In other words, framed through the lens of the Indigenous Evaluation Framework, the FE process should be designed to support faculty in understanding their roles as instructors—contextualized within programmatic and institutional objectives—and help them develop their instructional capacities. Taken together, both SDT and the Indigenous Evaluation Framework support the creation of FE processes that TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their ongoing development as professionals.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to understand and share information related to FE at TCUs that can be applied to promote the continued advancement of TCUs by supporting the development of their faculty and, as a result, the success of their students. Considering the data invisibility currently experienced by TCUs (Nelson, 2017),

it is largely unknown how their FE processes have been designed or what practices they include. Without this information, it is not surprising that faculty experiences with their institution's FE process and their perceptions of how FE practices contribute to their PD is also a mystery at TCUs.

This study explored Tribal College and University (TCU) faculty experiences with and perceptions of the faculty evaluation (FE) process. Given the limited research on TCU faculty, this study was designed to elicit first-hand perspectives to contribute to the knowledge available regarding TCU faculty experiences with the FE process. The following research questions served as the primary questions guiding this study:

- 1. How have faculty at Tribal Colleges and Universities experienced the faculty evaluation process at their institutions?
- 2. What faculty evaluation practices do faculty at Tribal Colleges and Universities perceive to contribute to their professional development?

Methodology

Using a qualitative phenomenological design, we explored TCU faculty perspectives of and experiences with FE, with the goal of identifying specific FE practices faculty perceive to contribute to their development as professionals. A qualitative phenomenological approach was chosen for this study because it allowed us to become immersed in a range of TCU faculty perspectives in order to develop a deep understanding of their experiences with FE (Creswell, 2013). Furthermore, in alignment with an Indigenous approach to research underscored by the values of relationality and reciprocity, it was necessary for the faculty who chose to participate in this study to be

welcomed into a conversational space (Minthorn & Shotton, 2018). This study was designed to communicate to the faculty participants a sense of partnership in a process intended to produce knowledge, increase understanding, and improve practice for TCUs and the students they serve.

Population and Sample

The population for this study consisted of full-time TCU faculty members who had experienced faculty evaluation at a TCU institution. To recruit for this study, we began with purposive sampling, contacting faculty we knew to be teaching at a TCU. A snowball sampling approach was then employed to extend the reach and diversity of faculty participants. Seven faculty representing five different TCUs across the Midwest responded to the request to participate in the study and met the participation criteria.

The variation in TCUs, disciplines, and years taught offered an eclectic sample of faculty experiences. Each conversation began with the faculty sharing details that served to contextualize their place at their TCU. These details included their discipline, years taught, and roles they currently fulfill in addition to their teaching responsibilities. Table 1 lists the faculty by pseudonym and the number of years they have served as a TCU faculty member. The last two columns list the average number of courses the faculty member teaches per semester and whether they perform any other lead roles. The number of other lead roles is also included in the last column, because all seven TCU faculty members said they fulfill at least one other lead role at their institution in addition to teaching.

Individual faculty disciplines were not listed, as one faculty member requested for that information not to be shared due to the potential increased risk of breach of confidentiality. In the interest of protecting the confidentiality of participants, the researchers are not disclosing other demographic details such as age and race.

Table 1Pseudonyms and Professional Experience of Study Participants

Pseudonym	Number of Years as a Faculty Member at a TCU	Average Number of Courses Taught Per Semester	Other Lead Role (e.g., Grant Lead, Committee Head, or Club Advisor), Number of Other Lead Roles
Leah	3	5	Yes, 2
Jess	7	3	Yes, 2
Tonya	7	3	Yes, 2
Devon	8	5	Yes, 1
Kent	10	3	Yes, 3+
Pat	10	3	Yes, 3+
Brody	15	5	Yes, 1

Interviews

The semi-structured interview questions were designed to align with Bevan's (2014) approach to phenomenological interviewing. In accordance with Bevan's method, the researcher began the interview by asking questions designed to inform the "context and biography from which the experience gains meaning" (Bevan, 2014, p.139). Initial questions focused on eliciting contextual details designed to lead to a better understanding of the experience of focus. Once the context was established, the researcher asked descriptive questions that focused on the experience or phenomenon of most concern—in this case, faculty evaluation. The last phase in Bevan's method emphasizes "imaginative variation," an approach that involved posing "what if" or hypothetical questions to the participant. These questions were intended to contribute to a clearer understanding of the participant's experience and the meaning they ascribed to it. The hypothetical questions were especially important to this study as they allowed the faculty to move beyond their experiences with the FE process and to share ideas on how to improve it.

Analysis

Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed using a secure, third-party service, and member checking was employed to ensure transcript accuracy and strengthen the authenticity of the study (Johnson & Rosulova, 2017). Through a process of content analysis, the researcher completed multiple readings of each transcription to identify, organize, and categorize the data according to common meanings. Inductive analysis was

then employed to identify patterns and themes that occurred across the content shared by participants.

Findings

The interview questions that framed this study were designed to inspire conversations with TCU faculty members that would produce data that could then be shared with others to increase knowledge and insight surrounding TCU faculty experiences with and perceptions of the FE process. The results presented include quotes from the faculty that illustrate a first-hand perspective into their experiences and thoughts as they relate to the FE process. Attentive analysis of the interview data enabled us to identify commonalities in participant responses. Ultimately, the researchers identified five themes regarding how TCU faculty have experienced and perceive the FE process:

- 1. The FE process is important.
- 2. Discontinuity exists between FE policy and practice.
- 3. Faculty appreciate and desire qualitative feedback.
- 4. Faculty prefer ongoing opportunities for evaluation.
- 5. Faculty input should informed FE processes and practices.

The Faculty Evaluation Process is Important

Participant responses demonstrated variation in FE processes and practices from one institution to the next. Though no single FE process matched another, there were common threads that highlighted similar experiences and perceptions among the TCU faculty interviewed. One overarching theme apparent in each participant's transcript is the potential positive impact that could be realized from the FE process at TCUs. In some

form, each participant noted they perceive the FE process to be important and potentially beneficial. Tonya shared that she views FE "as a growth process to become better at what I do," while Brody commented that the process contributes to "improving of my teaching job...improving of my teaching capability." Speaking about faculty perceptions generally, Pat expressed that they appreciate knowing "what the Institution is expecting." Further highlighting the importance of the existence of faculty evaluations, Kent added, "they need to be done because I think it is easy to become complacent." Jess's response aligns with Kent's in that they perceived the FE process to encourage higher levels of accountability and that certain FE practices could even inspire faculty to "up your game a bit."

Discontinuity Exists Between FE Policy and Practice

A majority of participants noted they had experienced a discrepancy between the existing FE policy and the FE practices being implemented at their institution. Their responses showed that this discrepancy contributed to negative feelings and thoughts toward the FE process as a whole. Devon shared that, per institutional policy, their FE process "did include a classroom observation component and that classroom observation component never occurred...No one came in and supervised my classes or otherwise evaluated my actual teaching." Leah's experience was similar to Devon's in her indication that "sometimes observations are scheduled and haven't happened at all."

Tonya also observed an inconsistency in policy and practice related to classroom observations. Even though classroom observations were listed as a required practice in their institution's FE process, they "haven't happened though...it has been inconsistent."

The outcomes of discrepancies between written policy and implemented practice appear to damage faculty perceptions of the entire FE process. Tonya expressed, "If there is something listed as a piece in this process, but then that piece isn't actually being carried out, the whole process can lose integrity," while Pat shared that "it used to really annoy me because I've had supervisors that never watched you but would evaluate you." Pat's statement is especially telling because it illustrates how perception can influence attitude. If faculty hold a negative attitude toward a FE policy or practice, it is plausible that their level of potential investment in the FE process will be compromised. As Devon observed, faculty who hold ongoing negative attitudes toward the FE process or specific practices could reach a point where they become completely disengaged: "I have a fellow colleague who found the process so useless that they just don't participate anymore."

Faculty Appreciate and Desire Qualitative Feedback

All participants mentioned feedback and their appreciation for it. The participants looked forward to receiving feedback from a variety of sources and perspectives, including students, supervisors, and peers. Regardless of the source, feedback was most appreciated when it was qualitative in nature. Speaking of student evaluations in particular, Tonya noted that faculty at her institution take feedback from students "very seriously...I reflect on the comments that are made." Leah shared that she appreciated learning about the students' experiences in her course: "I got a lot of feedback that it was really, really difficult, but it felt good at the end." Furthermore, as Brody's response highlights, faculty understand the importance of maximizing student participation in the

evaluation process: "The more students participate, the better...so the faculty can see what's really going on in the class and where the faculty can improve."

Regarding administrator or supervisor feedback, Leah shared that "It makes you feel appreciated just to be acknowledged...just to know that your administration is paying attention." Following the completion of an evaluation form or classroom observation, Jess expressed that they would like more feedback from their supervisor: "The face-to-face interviews [with the supervisor] ...could be better, that is, longer." However, it is also important to acknowledge potential harmful effects of supervisor feedback, as illustrated by Devon's experience: "The meetings have been largely focused on my personal characteristics, with no clear connection to my actual teaching or performance as a faculty member." Devon's experience illustrates that those providing feedback must be conscious of the purpose of their feedback and the context and content in which their feedback is shared.

Peer feedback was also mentioned, though no participants stated that peers served as part of the formal evaluation process. Instead, peer feedback was discussed as occurring in informal ways outside of the official FE process. When asked what types of feedback they found most helpful, Tonya shared, "The informal conversations that I have with other faculty...about things that I might be struggling with...a lot of it is some of those informal conversations."

Faculty Prefer Ongoing Opportunities for Evaluation

Toward the end of each interview, participants were asked questions that encouraged them to share their thoughts on how the FE process could be most effective.

These questions asked them to focus on changes that could be made to their TCU's current FE process to make it better. Participants shared a number of practices, including the importance of eliciting faculty input while creating or revising the FE process and ensuring faculty were receiving qualitative feedback. Additionally, practices such as goal setting and reflection were mentioned in multiple responses. Collectively, these responses contributed to a larger theme of the necessity for ongoing evaluation.

When respondents discussed practices such as goal setting, reflection, or feedback, they used phrases such as "stay aware," "able to adjust," and "change our choices," each of which speak to the idea of an evaluation process that is ongoing rather than a practice or a disconnected set of practices conducted only once or twice a year. The faculty responses illustrate that they appreciate evaluation for its potential to highlight how they can adjust and improve their teaching practice. As noted by Brody, implementing midterm evaluations not only ensures faculty are involved in the FE process on more than an annual basis, but also allows them the opportunity to engage in a practice that could contribute to their development: "The pieces help me improve because during midterm you are able to adjust." Kent further emphasized the connection between ongoing evaluation and learning by acknowledging the importance of reflection. In reference to the self-evaluation document faculty are required to complete, Kent said, "I think it's easy to collect data, but if we don't reflect on it and think about how to change our choices, I think it's not always helpful."

In regard to goal setting, Tonya noted the importance of the support received in conjunction with these goals as a key factor influencing the potential impact the goals

could have on the faculty responsible for forming them: "Encouragement and collaboration and ongoing support to reach those goals...if that's not happening, you end up having faculty that aren't really heavily invested and focused on those goals." Tonya continued with a suggestion for how this ongoing support could appear throughout the year:

Some of our meetings could be more focused on professional development, where we have breakout sessions, and there's different things you could do, but I think that those would be good times for faculty to focus more on personal growth.

The responses that TCU faculty shared demonstrate they do not perceive FE as a "one and done" annual activity. Instead, they perceive an effective FE process as one that is supported by various formal and informal practices over time.

Faculty Input Should Inform FE Processes and Practices

An additional theme that surfaced through the conversations with faculty is the importance of faculty input regarding the FE process and practices contained therein. In short, faculty input matters. Although no faculty described what they perceived to be the "ideal" FE process, many mentioned the importance of seeking faculty input to create a process that is both meaningful and well-accepted. Tonya noted that "There was a change [to the FE process] and faculty were not involved in that decision making process…we felt that there should have been some collaboration with faculty." Tonya continued by emphasizing the importance of getting "faculty involved in that process of what they think rather than administration saying 'I'm gonna switch the evaluation tool."

While no other participant described experiencing a change in the FE process without prior consultation with faculty, the participants emphasized faculty input as an important factor in creating an effective FE process. For example, Kent shared that "One piece that would be helpful is getting feedback from all faculty as to what in that process they would like to see." Kent continued,

In any process, it's kind of that faculty buy-in, whether they really want to or not; if they at least have input and they're not being told...that gives them that opportunity to have a voice and have a say...I think that's a huge piece.

In addressing the meaning and impact of the self-evaluation form, an FE tool mentioned by many of the participants, Devon suggested to "Look to other faculty members...there might be a way to create a meaningful evaluation form that's more peer-based and more self-reflective and less of a ranking." In addition to highlighting the importance of faculty input, Devon's response also prioritizes a more formative or constructive practice rather than one based on a ranking or hierarchical system.

Discussion

Insufficient research exists on TCUs and their faculty, and research focused on specific policies is even more scarce. This study aimed to contribute to what is currently known about TCUs and their faculty by researching TCU faculty experiences with and perceptions of faculty evaluation (FE), with the intent of sharing information that could contribute to the creation and implementation of more effective FE processes and practices.

Perceptions of Faculty Evaluation

The first question of this study explored how TCU faculty have experienced the FE process at their respective institutions. Of the experiences shared, there was much overlap, especially related to the practices included as part of the FE process. Multiple practices noted by the participants, including self-evaluations, student evaluations, and supervisor observations, have been previously discussed as widely-used evaluation measures (Berk, 2018; DeCosta et al., 2016).

One significant finding regarding faculty experiences with FE was the discontinuity experienced between what was written in FE policy and what was implemented in practice. A majority of participants noted that at least one piece of the FE process as described in policy was not employed in practice. In-person evaluations were the most commonly identified practice to be overlooked or not fully executed as written in the FE policy. All faculty who shared experiencing such discrepancies expressed negative feelings and attitudes as a result, including annoyance and a lack of investment in the process as a whole. Ensuring that FE processes execute the standards outlined in institutional policies can be addressed relatively easily at most institutions, and TCU administrators who take steps to align processes and policies with practice restore faculty conviction in the FE process.

Though discontinuity between policy and practice was a common experience for the TCU faculty who participated in this study, faculty still held overwhelmingly optimistic perspectives of what the FE process could be. When asked to share what came to mind when they thought of faculty evaluation, the participants described the FE

process as "something to strive for," "a growth process to become better at what I do," and meant to contribute to the "improve[ment] of my teaching capability." These faculty responses demonstrate that faculty are open to participating in the faculty evaluation process, and they perceive the process as an aspirational one. Framing the FE process as an opportunity for growth is not unexpected, as prior research has found that TCU faculty desire to continuously improve (Al-Asfour & Young, 2017).

Effective FE Practices

The second question of this study explored what FE practices TCU faculty perceive to contribute to their professional development. All practices shared by the participants are mentioned in previous research on faculty evaluation, including the reception of qualitative feedback from students and supervisors, goal setting, and reflection (Lutz et al., 2018; Debroy et al., 2019). Furthermore, this study highlights that, in addition to the specific practice or tool used as part of the FE process, the creation and implementation of that process is just as or, perhaps, even more important.

Nearly all participants shared that faculty input should be considered in the creation of an FE process. Viewed through a self-determination lens, the importance of ensuring faculty feel a sense of agency and autonomy in the FE process should not be overlooked. If faculty perspectives regarding the FE process are cultivated and ultimately realized in FE practice, then faculty autonomy and competency would be bolstered. Additionally, if faculty worked in a collaborative way to design certain aspects of the FE process, then all three major tenets of SDT theory would be accounted for (Ryan & Deci, 1985). For TCUs who move to strengthen the effectiveness of their FE process,

beginning by eliciting faculty input regarding what FE practices should be included and how they should be implemented is a critical first step.

Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

One limitation of this study is that only a small fraction of the existing TCUs and their faculty were represented. Yet, considering the lack of published research on TCUs and their faculty, the findings from this study serve as a starting point for future research focused on TCUs, their faculty, and their policies and practices. Future studies on FE at TCUs could strive to identify individual TCUs where FE processes are perceived positively by their faculty; these TCUs could then serve as case studies and models for others working on revising their FE processes to better contribute to faculty development.

Additionally, for institutions that revise their FE processes and cultivate faculty input to inform the revisions, it would be worth investigating how faculty perceptions of the FE process differed before and after the revisions were made. From an administrative perspective, TCU leadership might take it upon themselves to create a meaningful and effective FE process; however, as noted by the faculty who participated in this study, faculty consider their input to play an important role in creating an effective FE process. Measuring faculty members' perceptions of the FE process after they assisted in the creation of the process could highlight the importance of adhering to a collaborative approach to policy creation and revision at TCUs.

Lastly, though much more research on TCU faculty perceptions of FE would need to be conducted, a future goal would be to study how faculty perceptions of their institution's FE process correlate with student success outcomes. Identifying institutions

where FE processes are perceived by faculty to contribute to their development is a start; the next step is to investigate the relationship between faculty perceptions of FE and student success outcomes.

Conclusion

TCUs are integral to the advancement of those they serve, and TCU faculty are essential to this mission. Though TCU faculty fulfill multiple roles, teaching is at the center of their work. Considering prior research has shown TCU faculty desire to grow in their teaching abilities, the time has now come for scholars to explore how these faculty can be supported in their growth efforts. Because faculty evaluation is a process that is already commonly practiced at TCUs, how it contributes to faculty development deserves to be assessed. When TCU leadership take a critical look at how their FE processes are perceived by faculty as growth opportunities, the actions of these leaders will communicate that they value their faculty input and care about their development. This point is more than a sentiment; it is a way of modeling values inherent to the Indigenous Evaluation Framework. Evaluation—including the choice of tools, implementation approaches, and how to disperse and utilize findings—should be performed in collaboration with the community being evaluated. Given this point, what is worth considering for TCU leadership is how well their FE processes leverage faculty ideals about what the process *could* be and, if needed, revise their FE process so that faculty perceive it to include practices that do indeed support faculty development.

References

- Al-Asfour, A., & Young, S. (2017). Development needs and career advancement at Tribal colleges and universities. *The Journal of Faculty Development*, 21(1), 1-8.
- American Association of University Professors. (2015). *Statement on teaching evaluation*. Johns Hopkins University Press.

 https://www.aaup.org/report/statement-teaching-evaluation
- American Indian Higher Education Consortium. (2021). *Who we are*. http://www.aihec.org/who-we-are/index.htm
- Antoine, N. (2013). Exploring tribal college and university (TCU) faculty collegiality

 (Doctoral dissertation, Antioch University). Antioch University Repository &

 Archives. https://aura.antioch.edu/etds/66/
- Benton, S. L., & Young, S. (2018). *Best practices in the evaluation of teaching* (IDEA Paper #69). IDEA Center.

 https://www.ideaedu.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/IDEA%20Papers/IDEA%

 20Papers/IDEA_Paper_69.pdf
- Berk, R. (2018). Berk's law: Start spreading the news—use multiple sources of evidence to evaluate teaching. *Journal of Faculty Development*, *32*(1), 73-81.
- Bevan, M. (2014). A method of phenomenological interviewing. *Qualitative Health**Research, 24(1), 136-144. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732313519710
- Brown, L. (2017). *Native American transfer students from tribal institutions in Montana* (Order No. 10616718). [Doctoral dissertation, Indiana State University]. ProQuest Central.

- Bryan, R. (2019). The influence of tribal colleges and universities on Native American student persistence. *New Directions for Student Services, 1*(167), 49-62. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ss.20320
- Bunkowski, L., & Shelton, K. (2019). Mission, vision, and core values through online education: A case study on Tribal college leadership. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 20(4), 1-26.
- Cadez, S., Dimovsky, V., & Groff, M. Z. (2015). Research, teaching, and performance evaluation in academia, the salience of quality. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(8), 1455-1473. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1104659
- Carmack, H. & LeFebvre, L. (2019). "Walking on eggshells": Traversing the emotional and meaning making processes surrounding hurtful course valuations.

 Communication Education, 68(3), 350-370.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2019.1608366
- Center for Community College Student Engagement. (2019). *Preserving culture and planning for the future: An exploration of student experiences at Tribal colleges*.

 The University of Texas at Austin, College of Education, Department of Educational Leadership and Policy, Program in Higher Education Leadership.
- Creswell, J. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- DeCosta, M., Bergquist, E., Holbeck, R., & Greenberger, S. (2016). A desire for growth:

 Online full-time faculty's perceptions of evaluation processes. *Journal of Educators Online*, 13(2), 19–52.

- Debroy, A., Ingole, A., & Mudey, A. (2019). Teachers' perceptions on student evaluation of teaching as a tool for faculty development and quality assurance in medical education. *Journal of education and health promotion*, 8(218).

 https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_47_19
- DeLong, L., Monette, G., & Ozaki, C. C. (2016). Nurturing student success in Tribal colleges. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2016*(174), 65-74. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20203
- Espinosa, L., Kelchen, R., & Taylor, M. (2018). *Minority serving institutions as engines of upward mobility*. American Council on Education: Center for Policy Research and Strategy. https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/MSIs-as-Engines-of-Upward-Mobility.pdf
- Exec. Order No. 13592, 3 C.F.R. (2011). https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/CFR-2012-title3-vol1-eo13592
- Fayez, A., Ahmed, A., Darwish, H., El Khashab, H., Bougatfa, R., Shawky, T., & El Fouhil, A. (2019). A review of the methods in the evaluation of faculty performance. *International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences*, 6(8), 32-38. https://doi.org/10.21833/ijaas.2019.08.005
- Gelber, S. M. (2020). *Grading the college: A history of teaching and learning*. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Gillman, R., Hensel, N., Salomon, D., & Wilhite, S. (2018). *Refining the paradigm:*Holistic evaluation of faculty to support faculty and student learning. The New

- American Colleges and Universities. https://nacu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/NACU REFINING-THE-PARADIGM READER.pdf
- Gonzalez, L. & Ayers, D. (2018). The convergence of institutional logistics on the community college sector and the normalization of emotional labor: A new theoretical approach for considering the community college faculty labor expectations. *Review of Higher Education*, *41*(3). https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2018.0015
- Johnson, S. & Rasulova, S. (2017). Qualitative research and the evaluation of development impact: incorporating authenticity into the assessment of rigour.

 *Journal of Development Effectiveness, 9(2). 263-276.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2017.1306577
- Lutz, B., Ironside, A., Brown, S., & Sanchez, D. (2018). *Exploring faculty beliefs about teaching evaluations: What is missing from current measures?* American Society for Engineering Education Conference, Salt Lake City, UT.
- LaFrance, J. & Nichols, R. (2009). *Indigenous evaluation framework: Telling our story in our place and time*. American Indian Higher Education Consortium.

 https://portalcentral.aihec.org/indigeval/lists/indigenousevaluationfrmwork/allitems.aspx
- LaFrance, J., Nichols, R., & Kirkhart, K. E. (2012). Culture writes the script: On the centrality of context in Indigenous evaluation. In D. J. Rog, J. L. Fitzpatrick, & R. F. Conner (Eds.), *Context: A framework for its influence on evaluation practice.*New Directions for Evaluation, 2012(135), 59-74.

- LeVan, D. (2020). The development of a portfolio for academic promotion and tenure for occupational therapy educators. *The Open Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 8(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1749
- Lyde, A. R., Grieshaber, D. C., & Byrns, G. (2016). Faculty teaching performance:

 Perceptions of a multi-source method for evaluation (MME). *Journal of the*Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 16(3), 82–94.
- Mangum, E. (2017). Teaching and student success: ACUE makes the link. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 49(5), 17-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2017.1366806
- Marroquin, C. (2019). *Tribal colleges and universities: A testament of resiliency and nation building*. Center for Minority Serving Institutions.
- Minthorn, R. S., & Shotton, H. J. (2018). *Reclaiming indigenous research in higher education*. Rutgers University Press.
- Nelson, C. & Frye, J. (2016). *Tribal college and university funding: Tribal sovereignty at the intersection of federal, state, and local funding*. American Council on Education. https://www.luminafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/tribal-college-and-university-funding.pdf
- Nelson, C. (2017). Shifting from data invisibility toward data usage: Research and data collection at Tribal colleges and universities. American Council on Education. https://www.higheredtoday.org/2017/11/20/moving-away-data-invisibility-tribal-colleges-universities/

- Niyivuga, B., Otara, A., & Tuyishime, D. (2019). Monitoring and evaluation practices and academic staff motivation: Implications in higher education within Rwandan context. *SAGE Open*, *9*(1). 1-9.
- Opidee, I. (2018). Σ valuation Σ quations. *University Business*, 21(6), 36–39.
- Thomas, J., Graham, C., & Pina, A. (2018). Current practices of online instructor evaluation in higher education. *Online Journal of Distance Learning*Administration, 21(2).
- Postsecondary National Policy Institute. (2020). *Tribal colleges and universities*. https://pnpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/PNPI_TribalCollegesAnd Universities Nov-2020.pdf
- Ryan, R. & Deci, E. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and wellbeing. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 68-78. https://selfdeterminationtheory.org/SDT/documents/2000 RyanDeci SDT.pdf
- Ryan, R. & Deci, E. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions.

 *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 61, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016

 /j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Schimanski, L. A., & Alperin, J. P. (2018). The evaluation of scholarship in academic promotion and tenure processes: Past, present, and future. *F1000Research*, 7(1605). https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.16493.1
- Song, W. (2016). American Indian voice: A National perspective. In A. Long (Ed.), Overcoming educational racism in the community college. Stylus.

- Stull, G., Spyridakis, D., Gasman, M., Samayoa, A., & Booker, Y. (2015). *Redefining* success: how Tribal colleges and universities build nations, strengthen sovereignty, and persevere through challenges. Center for Minority Serving Institutions.
- Theall, M. (2017). MVP and faculty evaluation. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning*, 2017(152), 91–98.
- Voorhees, R. A. (2004). Tribal college faculty survey: Despite lower pay, faculty tend to be content, altruistic, ambitious. *Tribal College Journal of American Indian Higher Education*, *15*(3), 20–21.
- Wieman, C. (2015). A better way to evaluate undergraduate teaching. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 47(1), 6-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2015.996077
- Williams, K., & Hebert, D. (2020). Teacher evaluation systems: A literature review on issues and impact. *Research Issues in Contemporary Education*, *5*(1), 42-50.

Vita Auctoris

Kayla Alkire-Stewart was born and raised in North Dakota. She graduated from Hazen High School in 2005 and went on to attend the University of Mary where she earned her bachelor's degree in English. Kayla then attended the University of North Dakota where she graduated with her master's degree in English. She taught at the high school and college levels before continuing to pursue a graduate certificate in Communication Studies through Northern Arizona University. Kayla is on track to graduate with her Ed.D. in Higher Education Leadership from Maryville University in December 2022.

During her graduate studies, Kayla was awarded a Mellon Faculty Enhancement Fellowship and Doctoral Dissertation Fellowship from the American Indian College Fund. She has presented on communicating with a "You-Attitude" for the Standing Rock Education Consortium and Administrative Professionals Day Conference. Kayla has served in both faculty and staff roles at two Tribal Colleges in North Dakota, and she currently leads a team of 10 as the director of a grant program designed to increase educational opportunities for Native American adolescents.

Kayla and her husband have four children, one each in preschool, elementary school, junior high, and high school. They all live at home with their two cats.